ISSN-0971-720X (Print) • ISSN-0973-1283 (Electronic)

Volume 24 Number 1 January-March 2024



Medico-Legal Update

An International Journal

www.medicolegalupdate.org

Medico-Legal Update

Editor-in Chief

Dr S K Gupta

E-mail: medicolegalupdate@gmail.com

ASSOCIATE EDITOR

- 1. S.K. Dhattarwal (Professor) Forensic Medicine, PGIMS, Rohtak, Haryana
- 2. Dr. Vijaynath V (Associate Professor) Forensic Medicine, Vinayaka Mission Medical college, Tamil Nadu
- 3. Ms. Roma Khan, Forensic Sciences, INSAAF Mumbai
- Dr. Imran Sabri (Assistant Professor) Department of Bio-Medical Sciences.College of Medicine, King Faisal University,Saudi Arabia

INTERNATIONAL EDITORIAL ADVISORY BOARD

- 1. B. N. Yadav (Professor) Forensic Medicine, BP Koirala Institute of Medical Sciences, Nepal
- 2. **Dr. Vasudeva Murthy Challakere Ramaswam** (Senor Lecturer) Department of Pathology, International Medical University, Bukit Jalil, Kuala Lumpur. Malaysia
- Babak Mostafazadeh (Associate Professor) Department of Forensic Medicine & Toxicology, Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences, Tehran-Iran
- Dr. Sarathchandra Kodikara (Lecturer)
 Forensic Medicine Department of Forensic Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, University of Peradeniya, Sri Lanka

NATIONAL EDITORIAL ADVISORY BOARD

- 1. Prof. N.K. Agarwal (Professor) Forensic Medicine, UCMS, Delhi
- P.K. Chattopadhyay, (Professor) Forensic Sciences, Amity University, Noida
- 3. Dalbir Singh (Professor) Forensic Medicine, PGIMER, Chandigarh
- 4. Dr. Harish Pathak, Mumbai
- 5. J. Gargi (Professor) GGS Medical College, Faridkot
- 6. P.C. Dikshit (Professor) Forensic Medicine, Jamia Hamdard Medical College, New Delhi
- Anil Mittal (Professor)
 Forensic Medicine, Vardhman Mahavir Medical college, New Delhi
- Balbir Kaur (Professor) Forensic Medicine, MM institute of Medical Sciences, Ambala
- Mukesh Yadav (Professor) Forensic Medicine, School of Medical Sciences and research, Greater Noida
- T.K.K. Naidu (Professor) Forensic Medicine, Prathima Institute of Medical Sciences Andhra Pradesh
- 11. **S. Das** (*Professor*) Forensic Medicine, Himalayan Institute of Medical Sciences Dehradun
- 12. Col Ravi Rautji, Forensic Medicine, Armed Forces Medical College, Pune
- Dr. Manish Nigam (Professor and Head) Department of Forensic Medicine & Toxicology Sri Aurobindo Institute of Medical Sciences, INDORE (M.P.)
- 14. Dr. Shailesh Kudva (Principal) Rajasthan Dental College and Hospital Jaipur-302026
- 15. Usmanganishah Makandar (Associate Professor) Anatomy, AIMS, Bhatinda
- Dr. Pratik Patel (Professor and Head) Forensic Medicine, Smt NHL Municipal Medical College Ahmedabad
- 17. **Basappa S. Hugar** (Associate Professor) Forensic Medicine, Ramaiah Medical College, Bangalore

NATIONAL EDITORIAL ADVISORY BOARD

- Dr. Vandana Mudda (Awati) (Associate Prof) Dept of FMT, M.R. Medical College, Gulbarga, Karnataka, India
- Dr. HarishKumar. N. (AssociateProfessor) Dept.of ForensicMedicine, Sri Siddhartha MedicalCollege, Tumkur
- 20. Dr. Gowri Shankar (Associate Professor) Forensic Medicine, SNMC, Bagalkot
- 21. Dr. Manjunath Badni (Reader) Dept of Oral pathology Maharana Pratap college of Dentistry and Research Centre, Gwalior
- Dr. L.Ananda Kumar (Associate Professor) Forensic Medicine, Rajiv Gandhi Institute of Medical Sciences, (RIMS), Kadapa
- 23. Dr. Ramesh Nanaji Wasnik (Associate Professor and Head) Forensic Medicine Late B.R.K.M. Govt. Medical college, Jagdalpur
- 24. **Dr. Sachin Sinha** *(Reader)*, Dept. of Oral Pathology & Microbiology Daswani Dental College & Research Centre, Rajasthan
- Dr. Sasi Kanth, Asst. Professor, A.C.S.R Government Medical College, Nellore, Andhra Pradesh.

Medico Legal Update is a scientific journal which brings latest knowledge regarding changing medico legal scenario to its readers. The journal caters to specialties of Forensic Medicine, Forensic Science, DNA fingerprinting, Toxicology, Environmental hazards, Sexual Medicine etc. The journal has been assigned international standard serial number (ISSN) 0971-720X. The journal is registered with Registrar of Newspaper for India vide registration numbers 63757/96 under Press and Registration of Books act, 1867. The journal is also covered by EMBASE (Excerpta Medica Database) from 1997 POLAND. Medico legal update is a half yearly peer reviewed journal. The journal has also been assigned E-ISSN 0973-1283 (Electronic version). The first issue of the journal was published in 1996.

Website: www.medicolegalupdate.org

Ill Rights reserved The views and opinions expressed are of the authors and not of the Medico Legal Update. The Medico Legal Update does not guarantee directly or indirectly the quality or efficacy of any products or service featured in the advertisement in the journal, which are purely commercial.

Published at

Institute of Medico-legal Publications

Logix Office Tower, Unit No. 1704, Logix City Centre Mall, Sector- 32, Noida - 201 301 (Uttar Pradesh)

Medico Legal Update

| | Contents | |
|-----|---|--------|
| Vo | lume 24 | No. 1 |
| | Pa | ge No. |
| 1. | Pattern of injuries in Two-Wheeler riders involved in Road Traffic Occurrence – an Autopsy Study <i>Amjith E Kutty, Sreelekshmi J, Cyriac Job</i> | y 1 |
| 2. | Paraphilia Induced Suicide: A Case Report Ashok Kumar Rastogi | 8 |
| 3. | Study of Medico-legal cases in a Tertiary Care Teaching Hospital Donthireddy Leela Durga, Dheeravath Kalyani, R. Kalyan Varma, P Namrata, Srinivasulu Pothireddy, M. Vaikunta Babu | 12 |
| 4. | Profile of Autopsy Cases at Government Medical College Kanpur: A Retrospective Study Soni Verma | 18 |
| 5. | Spectrum, Pattern and Outcome of Trauma patients admitted to Tertiary care hospital in North India Mohammad Abdurrahman Khan, Manisha Verma, Syed Fiza Mustaqueem, Anoop Kumar Verma, Syed Belal Hassan, Iram Khan | 24 |
| 6. | A Study on Pattern of Medico-Legal Cases at ESIC Medical College, Kalaburagi Nagesh Kuppast, Santosh Garampalli, Shreekrishna H. K., Praveen, Shradha Iddalgave | 30 |
| 7. | Aortic Rupture Due to Blunt Force Trauma: A Case Report Pankaj Sahu, Nikhil Mehta, Niranjan Kumar Gunjan | 36 |
| 8. | A Cross-Sectional Study on Pattern of Thoraco-abdominal Injuries in Victims of Fatal Road Traffic Accidents Kapil Yadav, Devinder Kumar Atal, Hitesh Chawla, Renu Yadav, Mustafa Khan, Ravi Prakash Yadav | 39 |
| 9. | A Rare Case of Left Ventricle Free Wall Rupture at two sites Secondary to Myocardial Infarction: An Autopsy Case Mayank Kishore chand, Pankaj Sahu, Niranjan Kumar Gunjan, Nikhil Mehta | 45 |
| 10. | Morphological and Chemical Analysis of Farzi (Fake) Indian Currency <i>Niharika DN, Rakesh. V</i> | 48 |
| 11. | An Analytical Study on Medicolegal Cases at a Tertiary Care Hospital Naresh Karukutla, Sreedhar Reddy Surasani, V K V S Naga Kalyan, Saranya Hanumanthu | 54 |
| 12. | A Pattern of Unnatural Mortalities at Tertiary Care at SargujaRegion of Chhattisgarh: A One-Year Retrospective Study Prakash Deepak, Kumar Gyanendra, Agrawal Rahul, Xaxa Sanjeev | 57 |
| 13. | Epidemiotoxicological Profile of Fatal Poisoning Cases Autopsied at a Tertiary Care Hospital <i>Shreekrishna H.K, Venu, Dileepkumar K.B</i> | 62 |

Pattern of injuries in Two-Wheeler riders involved in Road Traffic Occurrence –an Autopsy Study

Amjith E Kutty¹, Sreelekshmi J², Cyriac Job³

^{1,2}Junior Resident, Department of Forensic Medicine, Govt: T D medical College, Alappuzha, ³Professor, Department of Forensic Medicine,Govt: T D Medical College, Manjeri, Malapuram

How to cite this article: Amjith E Kutty, Sreelekshmi J, Cyriac Job. Pattern of injuries in Two-Wheeler riders involved in Road Traffic Occurrence – an Autopsy Study. Medico Legal Update / Volume 24 No 1, January-March 2024.

Abstract

Background: Road traffic injuries are India's sixth leading cause of death, affecting youth and middle-aged individuals. Rapid motorized traffic growth, particularly two-wheelers (72% of vehicles), has increased accidents. Inadequate and non-uniform helmet regulations worsen the situation. Road injuries strain healthcare, demanding hospitalization, and rehabilitation. Kerala experiences significant two-wheeler accidents, often fatal due to head injuries. Studying injury patterns and causes among riders in fatal accidents is vital.

Methods: A cross-sectional study was conducted at Govt TD Medical College, Vandanam, Kerala, following approval from the Institutional Ethics Committee. The study included all deaths of two-wheeler riders involved in road traffic accidents with clear vehicle information, excluding decomposed or unidentified bodies. A total of 101 cases were analyzed, recording external and internal injuries directly onto the Proforma during autopsy. Data were summarized using frequencies and proportions, while the chi-square test assessed relationships between categorical variables.

Conclusion:The study found that most accidents occurred between 6-9 pm, involving mainly male (91.1%) two-wheeler riders (80.8%). Few wore helmets (5%). Head injuries (97%) were common, often caused by ejection from vehicles (87%). Non-helmet use and ejection related significantly to head injuries, a leading cause of two-wheeler accident fatalities.

Keywords:Two-wheeler injuries, pattern of injuries, helmet safety, contre coup injuries

Introduction

India has experienced rapid growth of motorized traffic in the last few decades, which resulted in an increase in road traffic accidents. Motor vehicle traffic in India is different from that of other developed countries. Two-wheeler accidents form a major component of all road traffic accidents in Kerala1¹. According to spitz and fishers the motor cyclist is unprotected for all practical purposes.²Most of the

deaths in two-wheeler accidents are due to head injuries.Helmets can reduce the risk of serious head injury, but do not protect the wearer from all types of possible head injuries. Crash helmet reduces the friction of the head against the ground and make the decelerations less drastic by allowing the protected head to skid across the ground. Helmet reduces the risk of head injuries by 30% and fatalities by 40%. However, in India helmet regularization is not uniform and it is poorly implemented. In India, two wheelers

Corresponding Author: Sreelekshmi. J., Assistant Professor, Department of Forensic Medicine, Dr.Moopen's Medical College, Wayanad.

E-mail: jsreelekshmij@gmail.com

Submission date: October 8, 2023

Revision date: Oct 17, 2023

constitute 72% of the total vehicles registered¹. Two wheelers include motor cycles, scooters, mopeds, and pedal cycles. Accidents to two wheelers are commonly caused by turning in front of a vehicle from one side to the other. The vehicle is hit and the person is thrown violently into the ground or some other object. Road traffic injuries also place a huge burden on the health sector in terms of hospitalization, acute care, and rehabilitation.³ According to national statistics of road traffic accidents in India, half of those dying on the world's roads are 'vulnerable road users' that include Pedestrians, cyclists, and motorcyclists. Sincetwo-wheeler accidents accounts for 78.67% of road traffic accidents in Kerala and 33.1% of the total number of deaths in 2014 due to road traffic accidents, it is important to understand injury patterns, causes of death, and head/neck injuries among two-wheeler riders in fatal road accidents.

Methodology

A cross-sectional study, based on autopsy findings of deaths involving two-wheeler riders, was conducted at Government TD Medical College Hospital, Vandanam, Kerala from January 2014 to May2015.Most of the autopsied cases originated from accidents that occurred in Alappuzha district, with some cases from parts of Ernakulam and Kollam districts. Cases where information about the nature of the vehicle involved was unclear, as well as cases involving unknown identities and decomposed bodies, were excluded from the study. The total sample size comprised of 101 cases. The study was initiated after getting approvals from institutional research and ethics committees.

A Proforma was prepared for data collection. The epidemiological features related to victim like age,

sex, type of vehicle involved, time of accident, place of death of victim, nature of treatment given, period of survival of victim after accident and other relevant data were collected from KPF 102 provided by police, clinical case records, details from concerned investing officers, relatives, friends, and others accompanying the body. Details of the injuries were recorded into the Proforma during autopsy examination. These data were entered into Microsoft excel and statistical analysis was done using *SPSS* software version 15.

Results

During the study period, 101 two-wheeler accident deaths were autopsied at Government T D medical college Alappuzha. The most affected age group was 20-29 years 32.3% (n=32), followed by 40-49 years 21.0% (n=21) and 50-59 years 18.0% (n=18). Males constituted 91.1% (n= 92) of cases, while females were 8.9% (n=9). The age range of victims was 15 to 73 years.



Fig 1: Distribution according to time of accident

Most two-wheeler accidents occurred between 6 pm to 9 pm 23.8% (n=24), with 40% of deaths occurring within 2 hours and none surviving beyond one-month post-accident. (Fig 1)

| Sl.No | Factors | Categories | Frequency | Percentage |
|-------|---------------|--------------------|-----------|------------|
| 1 | Type of road | National highway | 64 | 63.4 |
| | | Other roads | 35 | 34.7 |
| | | Data not available | 2 | 2 |
| 2 | Type of two- | Motor cycle | 62 | 60.4 |
| | wheeler | Scooter | 18 | 17.8 |
| | | Moped | 0 | 0 |
| | | Bicycle | 21 | 20.8 |
| 3 | Type of rider | Rider | 81 | 80.8 |
| | | Pillion rider | 20 | 19.2 |

Table 1: Distribution of factors related to the two-wheeler accidents.

| Cor | ntinue | e |
|-----|--------|---|
| | | |

| 4 | Wearing helmet | yes | 5 | 5 |
|---|-------------------|-----------------------|----|------|
| | | no | 88 | 87.1 |
| | | Data not available | 8 | 7.9 |
| 5 | Direction of | Along the direction | 19 | 18.9 |
| | impact | Opposite to direction | 50 | 49.5 |
| | | To stationary object | 14 | 13.9 |
| | | skidding | 2 | 2 |
| | | Data not available | 12 | 11.9 |
| | | Not applicable | 4 | 4 |
| 6 | Type of Offending | Two-wheeler | 17 | 16.8 |
| | vehicle | Three-wheeler | 7 | 7 |
| | | Light Motor Vehicle | 30 | 29.7 |
| | | Heavy vehicle | 24 | 23.8 |
| | | Stationary object | 13 | 12.9 |
| | | Not applicable | 10 | 9.9 |
| 7 | Ejected out | yes | 88 | 87.1 |
| | | no | 10 | 9.9 |
| | | Data not available | 3 | 3 |

Majority of two-wheeler accidents occurred on national highways 63.4% (n=64) and other roads 34.7% (n=35). Among the victims, 60.4% (n=62) were motorcycle riders, 20.8% (n=21) were bicyclists, and 17.8% (n=18) were scooter riders. Most victims 80.8% (n=81) were riders, not pillion passengers 19.2% (n=20). Despite helmet mandates in Kerala, 87.1% (n=88) of victims were not wearing helmets. Collisions primarily involved vehicles from opposite directions 49.5% (n=50). Two-wheelers mostly collided with light motor vehicles 29.7% (n=30). Ejection from the two-wheeler occurred in 87.1% (n=88) of cases. (Table 1)



Fig 2 : Showing the injuries in the body of the victims

Head injuries were prevalent in 97% (n=98) of victims, followed by lower limb 86.1% (n=87) and upper limb injuries 83.2% (n=84). while injuries to the chest and abdomen were present in 56.7% (n=57)

and 28.9% (n=29) of cases, respectively. Combined injuries to the head, chest, upper limb, and lower limb were noted in 17.8% (n=18) of cases, and head, upper limb, and lower limb injuries in 16.8% (n=17).

4

Common injuries included abrasions 99% (n=100), contusions 94% (n=95), lacerations 81.1% (n=82), and fractures 88% (n=89), while penetrating injuries were

rare 2% (n=2), and amputations were not observed. (Fig 2)

| Sl.no | Variables | Pattern of injuries in head and neck region | | |
|------------------|---------------------|---|---------------|----------------|
| | | Categories | Frequency (n) | Percentage (%) |
| 1 Region of head | | Scalp | 92 | 91.1 |
| | | Skull | 80 | 79.2 |
| | | Face | 47 | 46.5 |
| | | Neck | 12 | 11.9 |
| | | Extra Dural Hemorrhage | 16 | 15.84 |
| | | Sub Dural Hemorrhage | 69 | 68.3 |
| | | Sub-Arachnoid Hemorrhage | 74 | 73.3 |
| | | Intracranial bleed | 8 | 7.9 |
| | | Brain contusion | 46 | 45.5 |
| | | Brain Laceration | 23 | 22.8 |
| | | No head injury | 3 | 3 |
| 2 | Coup and contrecoup | Coup injury | 86 | 85.1 |
| | injuries of brain | Contrecoup | 65 | 64.1 |
| | | Both | 58 | 57.4 |
| | | No injury | 8 | 7.9 |
| 3 | Region of skull | Vault | 68 | 67.3 |
| | fractures | Base | 58 | 57.4 |
| | | Face | 17 | 16.8 |
| | | No fracture | 19 | 18.8 |
| | | Others | 1 | 1 |
| 4 | Neck injuries | Fracture cervical spine | 12 | 11.9 |
| | | Spinal cord injury | 4 | 4 |
| | | Hyoid bone fracture | 1 | 1 |
| | | Deep Soft tissue injury | 1 | 1 |
| | | No injury | 87 | 86.1 |

| Table 2: Pattern of injuries in t | the head and neck region |
|-----------------------------------|--------------------------|
|-----------------------------------|--------------------------|

In this study, scalp injuries were the most prevalent 91.1% (n=92), followed by skull fractures 79.2% (n=80), subarachnoid hemorrhage 73.3% (n=74), and subdural hemorrhage 68.3% (n=69). Only 3% (n=3) of participants exhibited no head injuries. Brain injuries were significant, with 85.1% (n=86) experiencing coup injuries and 64.4% (n=65) contrecoup injuries, while 57.4% (n=58) demonstrated both. Skull fractures were primarily vault fractures 67.3% (n=68) and base fractures 57.4% (n=58). Combined base and vault fractures occurred in 31.6% (n=32) of cases, with face, base, and vault fractures combined affecting 13.9% (n=14) of participants. Cervical spine fractures were

found in 11.9% (n=12) of cases, with all neck spinal cord injuries linked to cervical fractures 4% (n=4). Hyoid bone fracture was rare 1% (n=1), while 86.1% (n=87) had no neck injuries. (Table 2)

Chest injuries primarily comprised of soft tissue injuries to the chest wall, occurring in most cases, followed by rib fractures in 29.7%. Lung and heart injuries were observed in 14.9% and 4% of cases, respectively. Clavicle and sternum fractures were present in 4% and 5.9% of cases. Chest injuries were absent in 38.6% of cases. Soft tissue chest wall injuries were associated with rib fractures in 9.9% of cases. Abdominal injuries included soft tissue injuries in 20% and liver injuries in 13.9% of cases, with the majority (72.3%) having no abdominal injuries. Pelvic bone fractures were observed in 6% of cases, while urinary bladder injuries occurred in 2%, all of which were associated with pelvic bone fractures.

In the upper limb, soft tissue injuries were the most common (84.2%), with a few cases of humerus and radius fractures (3 cases) and isolated instances of elbow dislocation and wrist fracture dislocation (1 case); shoulder dislocation was not observed. In the lower limb, soft tissue injuries were predominant (90.1%), with rare femur fractures (2 cases), more common tibia fractures (18 cases), and 6.9% of cases involving fibula fractures. Knee dislocation was observed in 2 cases, and 8.9% of cases had no lower limb injuries.

Head injuries were the primary cause of death, leading to the demise of 62 individuals. Head injuries combined with other injuries were implicated in 90.1% (n=101) of cases resulting in death. Chest and abdominal injuries, when standalone, caused death in two cases each, but when combined with other injuries, contributed to death in 16.8% (n=17) and 12.9% (n=13) of cases, respectively. Lower limb injuries alone were not fatal, but in combination with other injuries, led to death in 11.9% (n=12) of cases. Upper limb injuries alone were non-fatal, except when coupled with head injuries, resulting in one death. Spine injuries combined with head, chest, and pelvic injuries contributed to death in 5% (n=5) of cases, while pelvic injuries combined with other injuries led to 4% (n= 4) of fatalities. In 2% (n=2) of cases, death was attributed to late complications arising from the injuries.

Discussion

This study on two-wheeler accident victims (n=101) found that most fatalities occurred in the third decade of life, with 31.7% (n=32) aged between 20-29 years. Age groups 40-50 and 50-60 yearsaccounted for 20.8% (n=21) and 17.8% (n=18) respectively. Studies from other parts of India also showed that majority of the victims were of the age group 20 to 40 years $(56.5\%)^4$. The male to female ratio was 10: 1, aligning with similar studies in India and Jamaica, which also reported male predominance due to a higher number of male two-wheeler passengers (5,6).

These findings underscore the vulnerability of young adults and males to two-wheeler accidents.

Most two-wheeler accidents took place between 6:00 pm and 9:00 pm (23.8%), with the fewest occurring between 12:00 midnight and 3:00 am (1%). Overall, 60% of accidents happened between 3:00 pm and 12:00 pm. Comparable studies indicate that two-wheeler accidents tend to peak during local rush hours⁷. The study revealed that a significant majority of deaths occurred shortly after the accident, with over 42% of victims succumbing within 2 hours, and 11.9% of victims dying at the accident scene, findings consistent with previous research.^{8,9}.

The study revealed that 63.4% of accidents occurred on national highways, possibly due to their well-maintained conditions favoring higher speeds. Among deceased two-wheeler riders, 60.4% were on motorcycles, followed by bicycle riders (20.8%). This trend may be attributed to the prevalence of motorcycles in Kerala, their compact design, speed, and power compared to other two-wheelers, consistent with previous studies.^{10,11}. Most victims were riders (80.8%), with pillion riders accounting for 19.2%. This aligns with similar findings from another study conducted in a South Indian state¹².

Out of 101 individuals in the study, only 5 wore helmets during accidents, while 88 did not, and data for 8 cases were unavailable. This highlights a widespread reluctance among two-wheeler riders to wear helmets, despite mandatory regulations in Kerala, underscoring the need for improved driver education on the benefits of protective gear. Most of the two wheelers collided with light motor vehicles (29.7%), followed by heavy vehicles (23.8%), and in 17 cases with other two wheelers. However, studies in different locations have reported varying proportions of offending vehicles ¹⁰. Notably, in 87% of cases, occupants were ejected from two-wheelers during accidents due to the absence of mechanisms like seat belts. Sudden braking led to occupants continuing their motion due to momentum, emphasizing the need for safety measures in two-wheelers.

In this study, head injuries predominated (97%), with substantial rates of lower limb (86.1%) and upper limb injuries (83.2%). Chest and abdomen injuries were also notable at 56.7% and 28.9%,

respectively. Combined injuries to the head, chest, upper limb, and lower limb occurred in 17.8% of cases, and head, upper limb, and lower limb injuries in 16.8%. These findings align with previous Indian studies⁴where head injuries were prevalent in twowheeler accidents. However, studies from outside India reported that majority of the injuries were on the extremities, suggesting a regional variation possibly linked to Indian riders' reluctance to wear helmets.

Abrasions were the most prevalent injury type (99%), followed by contusions (94%), consistent with existing literature. Lacerations and fractures were present in 81% and 88% of cases, respectively. Head injuries predominantly involved scalp injuries (91.1%) and skull fractures (79.2%). Subarachnoid hemorrhage (73.3%), subdural hemorrhage (68.3%), and epidural hematoma (15.8%) were common findings. Brain contusion and laceration affected 45.5% and 22.8% of victims, respectively, with only 3% free from head injuries. Skull fractures involved vault fractures (67.3%) and base fractures (57.4%), notably hinge fractures in the middle cranial fossa. Combined base and vault fractures occurred in 31.7% of cases. Coup injuries were observed in 85.1% of victims, contrecoup injuries in 64.4%, and both in 57.4%. Even though wearing of helmet can protect the head from injuries, it cannot protect the head from all type of injuries, especially contrecoup injuries which are seen in 64.4 % of cases.

Cervical spine fracture was present in 11.9% of victims. All case of spinal cord injuries of neck were associated with cervical spine fracture (4%). The most common chest injury was soft tissue damage (84.2%), followed by rib fractures (29.7%), resulting in death in only 2 cases. Abdominal wall soft tissue injuries occurred in 20% of victims, with 13.9% experiencing liver injuries, leading to death in 2 cases. Pelvic bone fractures were observed in 6% of cases, along with urinary bladder injuries in 2%, exclusively associated with pelvic fractures.

Upper limb injuries mainly consisted of soft tissue injuries (84.2%), with rare cases of humerus and radius fractures (3 each), along with elbow dislocation and wrist fracture-dislocation (1 each). Shoulder dislocations were absent, and upper limb injuries were fatal in only 1% of cases. Lower limb injuries primarily involved soft tissues (90.1%), with 2 femur fractures and 18 tibia fractures. Lower limb injuries contributed to 12 fatalities.

Head injuries were identified as the leading cause of death in two-wheeler accidents, responsible for 62 fatalities. Notably, 90.1% of deaths resulted from head injuries combined with other injuries. A study in Calicut supported these findings, showing head injuries as the primary cause of death among drivers (70.2%) and pillion riders (66.6%) (10). Chest and abdominal injuries independently led to two fatalities each, while combined chest injuries contributed to 16.8% of deaths and abdominal injuries to 12.9%. Although lower limb injuries were non-lethal alone, they contributed to 11.9% of fatalities when combined with other injuries. Upper limb injuries were fatal only when accompanied by head injuries, resulting in one fatality. Spinal injuries or pelvic injuries combined with other injuriesor late complications from injuries led to death only in a small proportion of cases. These findings emphasize the critical role of head injuries in two-wheeler accident fatalities and the impact of combined injuries on outcomes.

Statistical analyses using chi-square tests revealed significant associations in three comparisons: between individuals ejected from two-wheelers and those with head injuries (p=0.004), between head injury as a cause of death and not wearing a helmet (p=0.043), and between head injury and non-helmet use at the time of the accident (p<0.001).

Conclusion

The study highlights several critical findings regarding two-wheeler accidents. It reveals a striking gender disparity, with males comprising most victims. Most accidents occur during the afternoon and evening hours, and victims are predominantly in their third decade of life. Highways are the primary accident location, with motorcycles being the most common vehicle involved. Alarmingly, helmet usage is extremely low, and head injuries are the leading cause of death in these accidents, both in isolation and when combined with other injuries. Ejection from vehicles is a significant risk factor for head injuries. These findings underscore the urgent need for mandatory helmet laws for both riders and pillion riders, with strict enforcement, to mitigate the high incidence of head injuries and fatalities. Furthermore, exploring preventive measures like seat belts to reduce ejection from two-wheelers should be a priority in improving road safety for this vulnerable demographic.

Acknowledgement: We would like to extend our sincere gratitude to (Late) Dr. P Rema, former Professor and Head, Department of Forensic Medicine, Govt. Medical College, Alappuzha, for her contribution and guidance in this study.

Conflict of interest: Nil

Source of funding: Self

References

- Road Accidents in Kerala [Internet]. [cited 2023 Sep 19]. Available from: https://keralapolice.gov.in/ crime/road-accidents
- Spitz W, Fisher R. Spitz and Fisher's medico legal investigation of death. 4th ed. Charles C Thomas Pub Ltd; 1993. 956–959 p.
- Dr. K S Narayana reddy. The essentials of forensic medicine and toxicology. 32nd ed. New Delhi: Jaypee Brothers Medical Publishers; 2013. 264–271 p.
- 4. Jakkam Surender. Pattern of injuries in fatal road traffic accidents in warangal area. Journal of the Indian Academy of Forensic Medicine. 2013;35(1):55–9.
- U, Amir A, Hoda MF, Khalil S, Kirmani S. Pattern of head injuries among victims of road traffic accidents in a tertiary care teaching hospital. Indian J Community Health [Internet]. 2013 Jun 30 [cited 2023 Sep 23];25(2):126–33. Available from: https://www. iapsmupuk.org/journal/index.php/IJCH/article/ view/302

- Cawich O Shamir, Romer E Christopher Rose, Harding HE, Ivor W Crandon, McDonald AH, Fearron-Boothe D. Extremity Injuries From Motorcycle Road Traffic Accidents: The Experience From a Tertiary Referral Hospital in Jamaica. The Internet Journal of Emergency Medicine. 2008;5(1).
- Chaturvedi RK, Mishra A, Chaturvedi PK. Pattern of head injuries in fatal road traffic accidents in Indore region, M. P. J Evol Med Dent Sci [Internet]. 2014;3:5645– 51. Available from: https://api.semanticscholar.org/ CorpusID:57748076
- Ravi Raj K. G, Shobhana S. S. An Autopsy Study on Pattern of Fatal Injuries Sustained By Pedestrians. Journal of Evidence based Medicine and Healthcare. 2015 Mar 30;2(13):1995–2000.
- Reddy A., Kagne R. N., Balaraman R., Sivaraman, Diwakar S. Profiling of two-wheeler related fatal accident Cases autopsied at the union territory of India-Puducherry. International Journal of Recent Trends in Science and Technology . 2014 Jun;11(2):200–4.
- Prasannan K, Sheeju PA. A Descriptive Study of Pattern of Injuries in Driver and Pillion Rider Victims of Fatal Two Wheeler Accidents. Asian Journal of Biomedical and Pharmaceutical Sciences [Internet]. 2015;5:29–32. Available from: https://api.semanticscholar.org/ CorpusID:70894939
- Shamshuddin R. Kakeri, M.A. Bagali, E.S. Goudar, Sayed Yunus Qadri. Pattern of injuries and death sustained by the occupants of the two-wheeler during road traffic accidents. Al Am een J Med Sci. 2014;7(2):118-24.
- Shivakumar BC, Srivastava Prem Chandra, Shantakumar HP. Pattern of Head Injuries in Mortality due to Road Traffic Accidents involving Two-Wheelers. Journal of Indian Academy of Forensic Medicine. 2010 Jul;32(2):239–42.

Paraphilia Induced Suicide: A Case Report

Ashok Kumar Rastogi

Associate Professor, Forensic Medicine& Toxicology dept, All India Institute of Medical Science (AIIMS) Patna, Bihar.

How to cite this article: Ashok Kumar Rastogi. Paraphilia induced suicide: A Case Report. Medico Legal Update / Volume 24 No 1, January-March 2024.

Abstract

Paraphilia is a term used to describe different sexual deviations involving unconventional methods of sexual gratification. Paraphili as indulged in abnormal and orthodox sex play by using objects as parts of the body or fantasies in which complete satisfaction is sought and obtained without sexual intercourse. Perversions are acts that are socially prohibited or unacceptable, or biologically undesirable. In sexual paraphilia, usually, person psychopaths suffer from mental aberrations and conflicts, socio-sexual maladjustments, psychosexual imbalance, and abnormalities. Paraphilia-induced suicide is a type of anomic suicide, and anomic suicide is due to a lack of social regulation that occurs during high levels of stress and frustration. Paraphilia may induce suicide even though paraphilia is not punishable. It is just due to fear of social defamation and social taboo.

Case presentation: A 59-year-old male committed suicide on the railway track, and then the body was sent to the mortuary room for an autopsy examination. History was taken from the police and relatives. He was a widower for the last 15 years.

Conclusions: Paraphilia is the form of the insertion of foreign bodies in the rectum, and when a person cannot remove foreign bodies himself, attending a hospital is very humiliating. To prevent the social integrity or self-esteem, the person committed suicide. Where this type of paraphilia is not listed as a crime in India, for sexual gratification, a person may use it by any means, which may be natural or unnatural form. Many unnatural forms of paraphilia are used by many people, which is not punishable. Sexual gratification is done by most of normal people and a few abnormal psychiatric people by any sexual perversion. All paraphilia that is not punishable by the law should not be considered a social taboo.

Keywords: Paraphilia, Anomic suicide, Sexual gratification

Background

Paraphiliaisatermusedtodescribedifferentsexual deviations involving unconventional methods of sexual gratification. Paraphilias indulged in abnormal and orthodox sex play by using objects as parts of the body or fantasies in which complete satisfaction is sought and obtained without sexual intercourse. Perversions are acts that are socially prohibited or unacceptable, or biologically undesirable.⁽¹⁾ Paraphilia, which may be any form of action uranism, active algolagnia, necrophilia, necrophagic, passive algolagnia, fetichism, voyeurism, frotteurism, etc. ⁽²⁾ In sexual paraphilia, usually, person psychopaths suffer from mental aberrations and conflicts, sociosexual maladjustments, psychosexual imbalance,

Corresponding Author: Ashok Kumar Rastogi, Associate Professor, Forensic Medicine& Toxicology dept, All India Institute of Medical Science (AIIMS) Patna, Bihar.

E-mail: ashokforensic@yahoo.com, ashokforensic@gmail.com

Submission date: Nov 9, 2023

Revision date: Nov 23, 2023

and abnormalities. Durkheim identifies four different types of suicide which are egoistic suicide, altruistic suicide, anomic suicide, and fatalistic suicide. ⁽³⁾Paraphilia-induced suicide is a type of anomic suicide, and anomic suicide is due to a lack of social regulation that occurs during high levels of stress and frustration. A help fulcategorization of rectal foreign bodies is that it classifies them into two categories: voluntary and involuntary, sexual and nonsexual.

Case presentation

A 59-year-old male committed suicide over a railway track collision by train, after a preliminary investigation by the investigating agency, the deceased was sent to the mortuary room for an autopsy examination. History was taken from the police and relatives. He was a widower for the last 15 years.

Autopsy examination findings:

Injuries:

- 1. Multiple abraded contusions over the anterior part of the Neck, face, chest, shoulder, and head region.
- 2. Multiple lacerations over the head region.
- 3. Various Skull bones were fractured at places.
- 4. Brain and meninges crushed in places.
- 5. Contusion over the right anterior part of the chest region.

Anal and rectum examination:

Except for a small tear of length 1.5cm at 08 o clock position, over the rest anal opening, no evident external injury was appreciated, and the sphincter was found to have normal texture and tone.

After opening the abdomen, we feel some hard structure in the rectum. Then after making an incision over the rectum and examining the rectal cavity, we found a bottle gourd inside the lumen of the rectum. Measurement of foreign body bottle Gourd taken as length 24 cm in length and circumference was 08 cm. The bottlegourd was found intact, and no injury or contusion was appreciated inside the lumen of the rectum white mucoid material stuck at places over the gourd.



Figure 1: Injuries in form of abrasion and contusion seen in the red encircled area.



Figure 2: A green bottle gourd is in a circle in the rectum in red.



Figure 3: Annal opening observation one tear saw at 08 o'clock position indicated by the red arrow.



Figure 4: Recovered bottle gourd from the rectum.

Discussion

This case report is autopsy and history-based presentation. Sadism is an abnormal sexual behaviour where the person derives sexual excitement from inflicting psychological or physical pain on his sexual partner.⁽⁴⁾ Sexual gratification obtained or increased from acts of physical cruelty or infliction of pain upon one's partner. Insertion of a foreign body into the own rectum through the anus is cruelty to the selfbody for sexual gratification. We can nomenclate it as Narcissistic Sadism.

In most cases, rectal foreign bodies are inserted for the erotic activity to get sexual gratification. The foreign bodies are commonly described as plastic or glass bottles, cucumbers, light bulbs, tube lights, axe handles, broomsticks, carrots, and wooden or rubber instruments.⁽⁵⁻⁷⁾

Other objects include dildoes or vibrators, light bulbs, candles, soda, or beer bottles.⁽⁸⁾ Some rectal foreign bodies, such as toothpicks, popcorn, bones etc. It may initiallys wallow, transit through the gastrointestinal tract, and be stuck in the rectum.⁽⁹⁾ Rectal foreign body cases are rarely reported and often related to sexual gratification, sexual assault or the result of ingestion and are rarely accidental.⁽¹⁰⁾ Insertion of foreign bodies in the rectum for sexual pleasure, primarily seen in males of the 3rd and 4th decades.⁽¹¹⁾ Such patients are ashamed and hesitant to visit the hospital.(12) In India, it is a significant social taboo to fear losing social integrity if the patient has no courage to visit the hospital. The same fear happened in this case, and the patient committed suicide. The most common reason for a foreign body in the rectum was found to be purposefully inserted foreign body for sexual gratification in unnatural sexual behaviour.(10,13)

Psychiatric patients also may insert foreign bodies in the rectum; Posttraumatic stress disorder patients insert foreign bodies in the rectum.⁽¹⁴⁾

Conclusions

Paraphilia is the form of the insertion of foreign bodies in the rectum, and when a person is unable to remove foreign bodies and attending hospital very humiliating for the person. To prevent the social integrity or self-esteem of the person who committed suicide. Where this type of paraphilia is not listed in crime in India. Sexual gratification person may be done by any means, which may be natural, ormany unnatural forms of paraphilia are used by many people which is not punishable.

Sexual gratification is done by most the normal people and few the abnormal psychiatric people. Paraphilia that is not punishable by the law should not be considered a social taboo.

Acknowledgements: I would like to thank our mortuary employees.

Conflict of interest: Nill

Source of Funding: Non funded

Ethical Clearance: Not required Case report.

References

- Reddy KSN. The essentials of forensic medicine and toxicology. 34 th ed. Hyderabad: K Suguna Devi; 2017. Chapter 18; Sexual offences: 402.
- Agarwal Anil. Essentials of forensic medicine and toxicology. 1st ed. Avichal Publishing Company; 2016. 359–361 p.
- Durkheim E. Suicide: The study of sociology. The New aork free press.; 1897.
- 4. Agarwal Anil. Forensic and Medico-legal Aspects of Sexual Crimes and Unusual Sexual Practices. New york: CRC Press,,taylor & Fracis group.; 2009. 167 p.
- Singaporewalla RM, Tan DEL, Tan TK. Use of endoscopic snare to extract a large rectosigmoid foreign body with review of litera- ture. Surg Lapaprosc Endosc Percutan Tech. 2007;17(2):145- 148.).
- 6. Akhtar MA, Arora PK. Case of unusual foreign body in rectum. Saudi J Gastroenterol. 2009;15(2):131-132.
- Goldberg JE, Steele SR. Rectal foreign bodies. Surgclin N Am. 2010; 90:173- 184.
- https://emedicine.medscape.com/article/776795overview.accessed on 26/06/2023.

- Clarke D.L., Buccimazza I., Anderson F.A., et al. Colorectal foreign bodies. Colorectal Dis. 2005; 7:98– 103.
- Coskun A, Erkan N, Yakan S, Yıldirim M, Cengiz F. Management of rectal foreign bodies. World J Emerg Surg. 2013 Mar 13;8(1):11.
- Khan S, Khan S, Chalgari T, Akhtar R, Asad M, Kumar B. Case series: removal of rectal foreign bodies. Cureus. 2021 Feb 8;13(2):e13234.
- 12. Goldberg JE, Steele SR. Rectal foreign bodies. Surgclin N Am. 2010;90:173-184.
- Kokemohr P, Haeder L, Frömling FJ, Landwehr P, Jähne J. Surgical management of rectal foreign bodies: a 10- year single- center experience. Innov Surg Sci. 2017;2(2):89-95.
- 14. Sharif MR, Alizargar J. Self-insertion of a screwdriver into the rectum for sexual pleasure: A case report. Australas J Paramed. 2013;10(1).

Study of Medico-legal cases in a Tertiary Care Teaching Hospital

Donthireddy Leela Durga¹, Dheeravath Kalyani², R. Kalyan Varma³, P Namrata ⁴, Srinivasulu Pothireddy⁵, M. Vaikunta Babu⁶

¹Postgraduate, ^{2,4}Asst Professor, Dept of Emergency Medicine, ³Associate Professor, ⁵Professor and Head dept of ForensicMedicine, ⁶Postgraduate Emergency Medicine, Great Eastern Medical School & Hospital, Ragolu, Srikakulam, Andhra Pradesh.

How to cite this article: Donthireddy Leela Durga, Dheeravath Kalyani, R. Kalyan Varma et. al. Study of Medico-legal cases in a Tertiary Care Teaching Hospital. Medico Legal Update / Volume 24 No 1, January-March 2024.

Abstract

Medico-legal cases are pivotal in the pursuit of justice for victims and the accused. It is essential for medical professionals to be well-versed in the intricacies of medico-legal cases to ensure that they follow the procedures of the law of the land diligently. Understanding the patterns of medico-legal cases in a specific region can assist government authorities in devising strategies to prevent such incidents. This study was conducted at a rural tertiary care teaching hospital over a span of seven months, from January to July 2023, and examined 139 medico-legal cases. The age group of 21 to 40 years, predominantly comprising males, emerged as the most affected demographic in our study. Road traffic accidents were the predominant cause of medico-legal cases, with head injuries being the most frequently observed. Understanding the demographics and injury patterns of medico-legal cases in this rural area serves as a foundation for tailoring medical care and legal interventions to the specific needs of the community. By continuing to investigate and analyze medico-legal cases, healthcare providers and law enforcement agencies can work collaboratively to not only address the immediate medical needs of victims but also to develop proactive strategies to minimize the occurrence of such cases and improve overall community well-being.

Key words: Medico-legal cases, Injuries, Road traffic accidents (RTA's).

Introduction

Any unnatural event resulting in bodily damage seeking intervention and legal answer is called medico legal case⁽¹⁾. Medico-legal cases, which involve medical issues with legal implications, require both medical examination by a doctor and investigation by law enforcement authorities. These cases encompass a wide range of scenarios, including road traffic accidents, sexual assaults, poisonings, falls, burns, asphyxia deaths, industrial accidents, assaults, and more $^{(1)}$.

The primary responsibility when a medico-legal case arrives at the Emergency Medicine department is to assess and provide medical care to stabilize the victim or accused. Subsequently, the circumstances and history surrounding the incident must be documented for legal investigation along with thorough examination. The welfare of the patient

Corresponding Author: Srinivasulu Pothi Reddy, Professor and Head, Dept of Forensic Medicine, Great Eastern Medical School & Hospital, Ragolu, Srikakulam, Andhra Pradesh.

E-mail: forensic1pokiri@gmail.com

Mobile: 7382292799

Submission date: Oct 23, 2023

Revision date: Nov 8, 2023

takes precedence over procedural requirements, and doctors are obligated by oath to prioritize their patient's well-being ⁽²⁾. After stabilizing the patient, it is crucial to inform the relevant law enforcement authorities about the medico-legal case.

In every medico-legal case, a comprehensive medico-legal report must be prepared. This report should include essential information⁽¹⁾ such as the patient's name, age, sex, address, date and time of reporting, the person who brought them to the hospital, P.C. number and Police Station, time of the incident, conducted investigations, and the patient's discharge status. Additionally, two identification marks and fingerprints of the patient should be obtained, and the date and time of the examination should be documented. If the patient is in serious condition, a dying declaration should be recorded ⁽²⁾.

Before conducting any examination, informed consent from the patient and or requisition from courts or the police is essential depending on circumstances of case. The doctor must clearly explain to the patient the medico-legal nature of the examination and the legal implications if the findings and history do not align. Following a thorough examination, an opinion should be provided, which holds significance in subsequent legal procedures.

Additionally, Emergency Medicine department is the backbone of every hospital as all medical and surgical first report here. Knowledge of trends of medico legal cases brought to Emergency Medicine department is essential to make corresponding arrangements in terms of man power, drugs, equipment's, and instruments to deal with them, as the initial few hours are Golden Hours⁽³⁾ which can save the life of a victim/patient. These trends are also necessary for law enforcement agencies too, by which they can take preventive and corrective measures⁽³⁾.

The prevalence and nature of medico-legal cases reported in a hospital are influenced by factors such as road quality, socio-economic conditions, and cultural diversity in the area. In some rural areas, cases like Organophosphorus poisonings and snakebites are more common, necessitating the presence of anti-snake venom sera and antidotes of poisoning in rural primary health centers and Emergency Medicineunits. Conversely, metropolitan areas may see higher instances of road traffic accidents and industrial accidents, highlighting the need for trauma care centers and blood banks.

Misinterpretation of medico-legal cases can occur, emphasizing the importance of conducting examinations with care and transparency. Doctors should familiarize themselves with medico-legal guidelines set by their respective state and central governments. In cases of Medico Legal Casedeath, the body must be handed over to the police and subjected to a postmortem examination before being released to the patient's relatives⁽⁴⁾. Hospitals should ensure that their medical practitioners receive adequate training to handle medico-legal cases effectively.

Medico-legal cases are typically categorized as accidental, suicidal, or homicidal. The examination of the crime scene by a doctor along with law enforcement authorities can provide vital evidence and help determine the manner of death in some cases.

The primary objective of this study is to investigate the prevalence and patterns of medicolegal cases in a rural tertiary care teaching hospital. This research aims to provide insights into the types and frequency of medico-legal cases encountered in the hospital setting which can create standard health care practices and allot resources for other similar rural setups.

Materials and Methods

Study Design: This retrospective cohort study aimed to analyze medico legal cases (MLC) registered in the Emergency Medicine department of Great Eastern Medical School and Hospital during the period from January 2023 to July 2023.

Data Collection: Sample Size: A total of 139 MLC cases were included in this study.

Data Sources: Data was collected from two primary sources: Medical records maintained in medical record department &Emergency medicine records.

Data Parameters Collected: Age, Sex, Type of occurrence (e.g., road traffic accidents, burns, hanging, drowning, poisoning, assault, fall), Manner of occurrence (e.g.; suicidal, homicidal, and accidental); Time of arrival at the hospital, Time of day and month of occurrence, Time gap between the incidence and admission, Duration of the hospital stay, Number of deaths / discharges.

Inclusion Criteria: All cases that were officially recorded as medico-legal cases (MLC) during the specified period were included in the study. Exclusion Criteria: Cases that did not meet the criteria/not relevant to the study's objectives were excluded.

Data Analysis: The collected data was analyzed, grouped, and tabulated based on the relevant parameters mentioned above. The results were expressed in terms of frequency and percentage to provide a clear understanding of the prevalence and characteristics of MLC cases in the hospital during the study period.

Advantages: Easy, inexpensive, require less time, Risk factors can be known

Limitations: Retrospective studies have limitations related to accuracy & completeness of data, recall bias. The study's findings may be specific to the hospital and region under investigation & may not be generalizable some times.

Results and Discussion

The analysis of medico-legal cases reveals several key findings and trends:

Road traffic accidents (RTAs)^(4,5,6) were the most prevalent type of medico-legal cases, accounting for over half (51.07%) of the cases. Falls (19.42%) and Poisonings (15.82%) were the next most common, followed by Assaults (5.75%), Burns (4.31%), Industrial accidents (2.15%), Drowning (0.71%), and Hanging (0.71%). The high incidence of Road Traffic Accidents in the area could be attributed to greater motorization in this region. The prevalence of falls suggests the possible influence of factors like alcohol consumption (n=3) or underlying health issues like vertigo, Hypertension, Diabetes, Syncopal attacks etc.

The study revealed that, most affected age group was 21 to 40 years ⁽¹⁾ (48.2%), likely due to this age group's higher engagement in outdoor activities such as work, recreation, education, and miscellaneous pursuits. Males were significantly more affected^(5,6), constituting 76.25% of the cases, which can be

attributed to their higher involvement in outdoor activities.

Males suffered from RTA's (n=59) followed by fall (n=25), Poisoning (n=12) and Assaults (n=5). Females, majority suffered from RTA's (n=12), followed by Poisoning (n=10) and Burns (n=4). More females suffering from Poisonings and Burns suggest they stay alone at home leading to suicidal thoughts and succumbing to poisons and burns.

Most Medico-legal cases occurred between 6 AM - 6 PM (64.74%) and from 6 PM to 11 PM (22.3%). This can be explained by increased human activity during daytime and up to 11 PM. Fewer cases were observed on Tuesday (n=13) may be due to less movement, with Thursdays and Fridays recording the highest (n=26), possibly due to increased movement on these days. Similarly, taking into consideration Month of incidence, July recorded the highest Medico-legal cases (34.5%) followed by June (24.4%), while March recorded the lowest (4.31%).

Most cases (58.27%) showed a time gap of 1-8 hours between incident and arrival at hospital. This delay could be attributed to factors such as delayed ambulance response, unavailability of vehicles at the incident site, patients' negligence in seeking medical attention and non-availability of patient attenders etc.

Patients with medico-legal cases arrived at the hospital more frequently during the time of 6 PM to 6 AM ⁽⁷⁾ (38.84%), followed by 12 PM to 6 PM (33.09%), in contrast to most of the Medico-legal cases occurring between 6AM and 6PM, imposing the requirement of trained staff in Emergency Medicine department during night time.

Taking into consideration the duration of stay in the hospital, 84 cases (60.4%) were discharged within 6 days while 55 cases (39.5%) exceeded 6 days. The high number of discharges within 6 days can be attributed to the less severity of the disease.

In RTAs, Head injuries (n=19) were the most common. In Head injuries, Scalp lacerations were the most common (n=19) followed by Facial injuries (n=16), Intracranial injuries (n=10) and Skull fractures (n=9). Lower limb soft tissue injuries and fractures (n=18) and Upper limb soft tissue injuries and fractures (n=10) were also prevalent. Thoracic injuries included Rib fractures (n=4) while there were a few cases of Pelvic, Abdominal, and Neck injuries.

Among the types of RTA's majority were Self Accidents (53.52%) maybe due to skidding, bad roads, over speeding, sudden obstruction, followed by Pedestrian accidents (22.53%), Bike x Four-Wheeler (11.26%), Two-Wheeler x Two-Wheeler (9.89%).

Falls from heights resulted in Head injuries (n=20) particularly facial (n=8) and scalp injuries (n=5), as well as Intracranial injuries (n=3) and Skull fractures (n=2). Chest injuries (n=5) were the next most common, including rib and claviclefractures (n=2), followed by long bone injuries such as Femur (n=2) Fibula (n=1) and Radius fractures (n=1) along with Spine injuries (n=2).

Poisoning cases predominantly involved Snake bites (18.18%) and Paraquat poisonings (18.18%) followed by other types of poisonings. Suicidal cases (77.27%) were more common than accidental cases (22.72%) in this category. Incidence of Snake bites is high due to rural areas, while Paraquat poisonings are high probably due to usage of pesticides in agriculture.

In Burns cases, females (66.67%) were more affected while Industrial accidents (100%) predominantly affected males. Accidental causes were dominant in both types of medico-legal cases.

In Assaults, majority of the cases involved usage of Blunt objects (87.5%) as compared to Sharp objects (12.5%). Males were predominantly involved (62.5%) as compared to Females (37.5%)

Looking at the manner of Medico-Legal cases, 81.29% of the cases were Accidental, 12.94% Suicidal and 5.7% Homicidal. ⁽⁸⁾

This Study's outcomes indicate that most cases (85.61%) were discharged, while 6.47% resulted in fatalities. 11 cases were referred to higher centers. Among the deaths, (5.03%) occurred within the first day of admission, likely due to the severity of Disease/Injuries.

| MLC Type | MALE | FEMALE |
|------------------------------|------|--------|
| RTA (51.07%) | 59 | 12 |
| FALL (19.42%) | 25 | 2 |
| POISON (15.82%) | 12 | 10 |
| ASSAULT (5.75%) | 5 | 3 |
| BURN (4.31%) | 2 | 4 |
| INDUSTRIAL ACCIDENTS (2.15%) | 3 | 0 |
| HANGING (0.71%) | 0 | 1 |
| DROWNING (0.71%) | 0 | 1 |

TABLE 1: TYPES OF MLCs (n=139)

TABLE 2: AGE OF PERSON

| Age in years | Male (n=106) | Female (n=33) |
|--------------|--------------|---------------|
| 0-10 | 1 | 2 |
| 11-20 | 12 | 3 |
| 21-30 | 31 | 3 |
| 31-40 | 25 | 8 |
| 41-50 | 17 | 9 |
| 51-60 | 13 | 6 |
| 61-70 | 2 | 1 |
| 71-80 | 5 | 0 |
| 81-90 | 0 | 1 |

TABLE 3: TIME OF INCIDENT

| TIME OF Incident | MALE | FEMALE | TOTAL | % |
|------------------|------|--------|-------|--------|
| 6AM-6PM | 66 | 24 | 90 | 64.74% |
| 6PM-11PM | 29 | 2 | 31 | 22.3% |
| 11PM-6AM | 11 | 7 | 18 | 12.94% |

TABLE 4: ARRIVAL TIME AT HOSPITAL

| Arrival at hospital | Total | Percentage |
|---------------------|-------|------------|
| 6AM-9AM | 14 | 10.07% |
| 9AM-12PM | 25 | 17.98% |
| 12PM-6PM | 46 | 33.09% |
| 6PM- 6AM | 54 | 38.84% |

Table 5: TIME GAP BETWEEN INCIDENT & ADMISSION

| Time gap between | Total | Percentage |
|----------------------|-------|------------|
| incluent & admission | | |
| <1hour | 24 | 17.26% |
| 1 -8 hours | 81 | 58.27% |
| 8-16 hours | 13 | 9.35% |
| 16-24 hours | 10 | 7.19% |
| >24 hours | 11 | 7.91% |

Table 6: DURATION OF HOSPITAL STAY

| Duration of hospital stay | Total | Percentage |
|---------------------------|-------|------------|
| <24 hours | 19 | 13.66% |
| 1-3 days | 44 | 31.65% |
| 4-6 days | 21 | 15.10% |
| >6 days | 55 | 39.56% |

TABLE 7: INJURIES IN RTA's

| HEAD INJURIES | NECK | THORAX | ABDOMINAL | PELVIC | UPPER | LOWER LIMB |
|-----------------------------------|-------------|----------------|-------------|--------------|----------------|----------------|
| | INJURIES | INJURIES | INJURIES | INJURIES | LIMB | INJURIES |
| | | | | | INJURIES | |
| 1.Scalp | Soft tissue | 1) Rib | Soft tissue | Soft tissue | 1) Bone | 1) Bone |
| lacerations-19 | injury - 1 | fractures: 4 | injury - 1 | injuries - 3 | fractures – 3 | fractures – 9 |
| 2. Facial injuries – 16 | | 2) Soft tissue | | | 2) Soft tissue | 2) Soft tissue |
| 3. Intra Cranial Injuries – 10 | | injuries - 2 | | | injuries - 10 | injuries – 18 |
| 4. Skull Fractures - 9 | | | | | | |

Conclusions

Majority of Medico-Legal cases include Road Traffic Accidents, fall from heights and Poisonings.

Males in the age group of 21-40/50 years are the most vulnerable.

Medico-Legal cases predominantly occurred between 6AM-6PM, while arrival to the hospital was more between 6PM-6AM.

Incidence of Medico-Legal cases was lower on Tuesdays in a week.

Most of the patients required a hospital stay of less than 6 days.

In Road Traffic Accidents, self-accidents were common followed by pedestrian accidents.

Among the manner of MLC's, accidental manner was the commonest; in contrast to the poisonings where suicidal manner was the commonest.

Conflict of interest: None

Source of funding: Self

Acknowledgement: We sincerely acknowledge medical records department and emergency medicine department who helped us for doing this study.

Permission for study: Was obtained from Institutional Ethics committee, Great Eastern Medical School and Hospital.

References

- 1. Sham Kishore K, K.H. Thippeswamy, K.B. Suryakumar. A Profile of Medico-Legal Cases in a Tertiary Centre of Rural Karnataka. JKAMLS.2016,25(2), Pg.6-9.
- Anil Aggarwal. Forensic medicine &Toxicology for MBBS. First ed. Delhi: APC; 2016. Pg.459.
- 3. Prakash Kulkarni & R.K. Pandey. Current trends of Medico Legal cases brought to Tertiary Hospital, Aurangabad, India, International Journal of Current Medical and Applied Sciences; 2016,9(2), Pg92.
- MedicolegalIssues: Guidelinesto medical officersURL: https://nhsrcindia.org/sites/default/ files/2021-05/medico_legal.pdf. Pg.12.
- 5. Dake Rajesh. An Analysis of Medico-Legal cases at a Tertiary Care Hospital, Kakinada. Scholars Journal of Applied Medical Sciences;2019,7(11), Pg 3789.
- Manju.L, Nazeema Beevi. A study on medico legal cases attended in a tertiary care hospital in south Kerala. International Journal of Health Sciences and Research.2018,8(11), Pg 257-259.
- 7. Aswini Kumar, Rajiv Joshi. A Retrospective Study of Medico-Legal Cases coming
- to a Tertiary Care Hospital of Malwa region of Punjab. Medico-Legal Update. October-December 2020, 20(4), Pg 100-103.
- 8. Chandrasekhar J, K.H. Thippeswamy. Pattern of Medico-Legal Cases treated at a Tertiary Care Hospital-Retrospective Study. JKAMLS.2018,27(1) Pg.27.

Profile of Autopsy Cases at Government Medical College Kanpur: A Retrospective Study

Soni Verma

Associate Professor, Department of Forensic Medicine and Toxicology, GSVM Medical College Kanpur.

How to cite this article: Soni Verma. Profile of Autopsy Cases at Government Medical College Kanpur: A Retrospective Study. Medico Legal Update / Volume 24 No 1, January-March 2024.

Abstract

Background: The profiling of medico-legal cases is imperative in order to avert preventable casualties in the future and to analyze the authentic crime rate within a specific region. Presently, road traffic accidents are the primary cause of casualties, resulting in numerous fatalities. *Objective:* The objective is to establish a comprehensive profile of deaths caused by either natural or unnatural factors, thereby enabling us to channel rigorous efforts towards mitigating their occurrence.

Materials and Methods: A retrospective analysis was conducted on the mortality cases subjected to medico-legal postmortem examination at the Mortuary, Government Medical College, Kanpur, U.P., India, during the year 2022. Throughout this duration, a total of 2326 autopsy cases were conducted.

Results: October had the highest number of autopsy cases. Males accounted for 63.23% of cases, with most falling in the 21-30 age group. Injury-related deaths were the largest proportion (47.36%), followed by natural deaths (19.93%), violent asphyxial deaths (10.48%), thermal injuries (9.89%), and poisoning (9.04%).

Conclusion: The analysis reveals that road traffic accidents are the most common cause of death, potentially due to the increased frequency of transportation. Specifically, vehicular accidents resulting in head injuries were the leading cause of death.

Key Words: Autopsy, Unnatural Deaths, Injury, Burns, Violent Asphyxial Death, Poisoning

Introduction

The profiling of medico-legal cases emerges as a crucial undertaking in the realms of forensic science and public health, extending beyond documenting past incidents to actively preventing future casualties. Its significance lies in providing a comprehensive understanding of morbidity and mortality dynamics, benefiting stakeholders such as policymakers, healthcare professionals, law enforcement, and researchers¹.

Road traffic accidents (RTAs) represent a

harrowing issue, causing preventable casualties with far-reaching consequences—loss of life, physical injuries, emotional trauma, and economic burdens. Understanding the contributing factors to RTAs becomes imperative for effective interventions, making comprehensive profiling an essential tool for crafting strategies to mitigate these incidents. The primary objective of this research is to establish a comprehensive profile of deaths from natural and unnatural causes. This holistic approach aims to channel collective efforts toward curtailing tragic events, delving into the intricacies of human existence and societal dynamics beyond statistical data².

Corresponding Author: Soni Verma, Associate Professor, Department of Forensic Medicine and Toxicology, GSVM Medical College Kanpur.

E-mail: sverma16@gmail.com

Submission date: Nov 29, 2023

Revision date: Dec 14, 2023

Published date: 2024-02-14

India, particularly the city of Kanpur, grapples with challenges stemming from rapid industrialization and urbanization. Challenges include unemployment, income disparities, substance abuse, traffic density, inadequate infrastructure, and various morbidities, leading to a notable increase in medicolegal cases. The study's significance lies in its intersection of health, justice, and social issues, offering insights into the etiology and nature of underlying causes. The research in Kanpur seeks to unravel the intricate tapestry of medicolegal cases, understanding the stories behind each case, societal contexts, and systemic issues perpetuating them. It goes beyond statistical analysis, providing a foundation for evidence-based policymaking to address root causes and tailor interventions³.

The profiling of medicolegal cases transcends disciplines, intersecting with public health, criminal justice, and social welfare. Its value lies in its potential to save lives, alleviate suffering, and improve overall well-being. Through comprehensive research and analysis, it aims to pave the way for a safer, more equitable, and healthier future for the people of Kanpur and beyond⁴.

Materials and Methods

This retrospective study encompasses all instances of mortalities presented for postmortem examination at the mortuary of Government Medical College, Kanpur, Uttar Pradesh, India, spanning from the commencement of January 1st, 2022, until the culmination of December 31st, 2022. The primary objective of this investigation pertains to ascertaining the overall count of deceased cases, discerning the gender distribution of the individuals, and comprehending the distribution pattern across different months. The comprehensive analysis of the variables related to the cause of death entails the consideration of age, gender, day and month of incidence, causative agent, and the cause of death determined through autopsy. The meticulous collection and systematic tabulation of data were executed to determine the frequency and proportion of these fatalities, with outcomes subsequently expressed in the form of percentages.

| Age Group | Male | Female | Total | Percentage |
|-----------|---------------|-------------|-------|------------|
| 0-10 | 110 | 124 | 234 | 10.060 |
| 11-20 | 164 | 161 | 325 | 13.972 |
| 21-30 | 508 | 198 | 706 | 30.353 |
| 31-40 | 311 | 194 | 505 | 21.711 |
| 41-50 | 186 | 80 | 266 | 11.436 |
| 51-60 | 98 | 65 | 163 | 7.008 |
| 61-70 | 76 | 23 | 99 | 4.256 |
| >71 | 20 | 8 | 28 | 1.204 |
| Total | 1473 (63.33%) | 853 (36.67) | 2326 | 100 |

Result

Table 1: Age and gender wise distribution of cases

| Table 2: Distribution of | cases | according | to | cause | of |
|--------------------------|-------|-----------|----|-------|----|
| death | | | | | |

| | Cause of death | Percentage |
|---|-----------------|------------|
| 1 | Injury | 47.36 |
| 2 | Natural | 19.93 |
| 3 | Asphyxia deaths | 10.48 |
| 4 | Burns | 9.89 |
| 5 | Poisoning | 9.04 |
| 6 | Electrocution | 2.03 |
| 7 | Unknown | 1.27 |
| | Total | 100 |

Table 3: Distribution of cases according to varioustypes of injury

| | Type of mechanical injury | Percentage |
|---|---------------------------|------------|
| 1 | Head injury | 67.38 |
| 2 | Multiple injury | 28.94 |
| 3 | Spinal cord injury | 2.45 |
| 4 | Stab injury | 0.79 |
| 5 | Cut throat | 0.24 |
| 6 | Firearm injury | 0.2 |
| | Total | 100 |

| | Natural deaths by disease | Percentage |
|---|--------------------------------|------------|
| 1 | Respiratory system | 42.34 |
| 2 | Cardiovascular system | 28.86 |
| 3 | Septicemia(multiorgan failure) | 21.10 |
| 4 | GIT system | 4.87 |
| 5 | Blood system | 2.04 |
| 6 | Cerebral | 0.46 |
| 7 | Nonviable | 0.32 |
| 8 | Stillborn | 0.1 |
| | Total | 100 |

Table 4: Distribution of cases according to naturalcause of deaths

Table 5: Distribution of cases according to violentasphyxial deaths

| | Violent asphyxial death | Percentage |
|---|-------------------------|------------|
| 1 | Hanging | 50.72 |
| 2 | Drowning | 24.54 |
| 3 | Strangulation | 8.89 |
| 4 | Choking | 15.85 |
| | Total | 100 |

Table 6: Types of unnatural death irrespective ofthe manner of death

| | Unnatural death | Percentage |
|----|--------------------|------------|
| 1 | Head injury | 41.75 |
| 2 | Multiple injury | 21.86 |
| 3 | Asphyxial | 17.32 |
| 4 | Burns | 8.21 |
| 5 | Poisoning | 6.39 |
| 6 | Electrocution | 2.06 |
| 7 | Spinal cord injury | 1.24 |
| 8 | Unknown | 0.62 |
| 9 | Stab injury | 0.38 |
| 10 | Cut throat | 0.14 |
| 11 | Firearm injury | 0.03 |
| | Total | 100 |

During a span of one year, a comprehensive examination of 2326 deceased individuals was conducted. It was observed that the months of October and September exhibited the highest frequency of cases, while the months of March and February corresponded to the lowest number of occurrences. The study revealed that male individuals accounted for 63.33% of the subjects. The investigation further noted that the highest proportion (30.35%) of autopsy cases, spanning both genders, fell within the age range of 21-30 years. This was followed by the age group of 31-40 years, while the lowest proportion of cases (1.2%) was observed in individuals aged over 70 years.

Table 2 presents the data indicating that the largest number of cases recorded pertained to deaths caused by mechanical injuries, specifically those resulting from road traffic accidents (RTA). This was followed by deaths from natural causes, violent asphyxiation, burns, and poisoning incidents. In the specific month of October, there were a total of 91 cases attributed to deaths caused by mechanical injuries, with natural deaths, violent asphyxiation, and burn-related deaths following closely behind. The highest number of cases in the mechanical injury category can be attributed to blunt trauma resulting from road traffic accidents. Furthermore, it is worth noting that a small percentage of cases, 1.27% to be precise, are currently under investigation, and the exact cause of death for these cases is yet to be determined.

Table 3 displays the various types of mechanical injury that were discovered and analyzed in this particular study. Among the assortment of injuries, it was observed that head injury and multiple bodily injuries were the most prevalent, with spinal cord injury, stab injury, cut throat injury, and firearm injury following suit. In terms of the nature of death, a natural demise occurred in 19.93% of the cases. Within this subset, it was noted that the maximum number of cases were attributed to respiratory system-related deaths, with cardiovascular causes, septicemia, gastrointestinal tract (GIT) causes, and other factors ranking subsequently. This is further elucidated in **Table 4**.

During the course of the entire year, the autopsies conducted amounted to a total of 2,326 cases, and it was found that a percentage of 10.48% of these cases were attributed to violent asphyxial deaths. Upon examining Table 5, it becomes apparent that within the category of violent asphyxial deaths, the highest number of occurrences was reported in cases of hanging, accounting for approximately 50.72% of the total. Following closely behind were incidents of drowning, which constituted approximately 24.54% of the cases. Lastly, there were instances of ligature strangulation, throttling, and choking, which were documented in **Table 5**.

Discussion

Among the total number of autopsy cases, which amounted to 2326 in total, it was found that the male cases accounted for 1473, constituting approximately 63.33% of the total, while the female cases accounted for 853, making up around 36.67% of the total. This finding aligns with the results obtained from various studies conducted by Radhakrishna et al., Sharma et al., Wasnik, Shrivastava et al., Zine et al., Qasim et al., and Afandi. These researchers all arrived at a similar conclusion, further strengthening the validity of this result. The higher prevalence of male cases can potentially be attributed to the fact that male individuals tend to have greater exposure to the external environment. This can be attributed to the socioeconomic structure of our community, wherein men often serve as the sole breadwinners and have more freedom to venture outdoors, while women typically stay indoors⁵.

The age group that was most commonly involved in all types of cases was found to be individuals between the ages of 21 and 30, encompassing both males and females. This discovery aligns with the findings of various studies conducted by Radhakrishna et al., Wasnik, Zine et al., Qasim et al., and Afandi. In the research conducted by Sharma et al., it was observed that the age group predominantly affected was individuals between the ages of 21 and 25, followed closely by those between the ages of 26 and 30. An interesting observation that can be made is that the majority of victims were young adults, highlighting the vulnerability of this particular age group. This information sheds light on the significance of focusing on this demographic in order to develop effective interventions and preventative measures. Overall, these findings emphasize the need for targeted efforts aimed at protecting and supporting young adults, as they are particularly susceptible to various types of cases. The majority of cases consisted of deaths resulting from injuries, with the highest frequency observed in this category. Subsequently, deaths caused by natural causes ranked second in terms of prevalence. Furthermore, deaths resulting from violent asphyxiation, such as strangulation or

suffocation, were also present among the reported cases. Additionally, deaths caused by burns, either accidental or intentional, were identified as another significant category. Moreover, cases of deaths caused by poisoning, whether accidental or intentional, were also reported. Finally, deaths resulting from electrocution and those with an undetermined cause were among the identified categories of mortality⁶.

Among the instances of fatalities resulting from injuries, it is noteworthy to mention that the primary cause of demise was head injury, accounting for a substantial 67.38% of cases, followed by multiple body injuries at a rate of 28.94%. Additionally, spinal cord injuries contributed to 2.45% of the total, while stab injuries accounted for a relatively lower percentage of 0.79%. Furthermore, the occurrence of cut throat injuries represented a mere 0.24% of cases, with firearm injuries constituting a minute 0.2%. A study conducted by Vij established that head injury cases encompassed a staggering 69.5% of all fatal road traffic accident (RTA) cases. This dominance can be attributed to the head being the primary target of injury in the majority of physical assaults. These findings aligned closely with the results obtained by various other researchers, with the exception of Afandi's study, wherein it was observed that the leading cause of death stemmed from blunt and sharp forces, rather than RTAs. This discrepancy can be attributed to the fact that in Afandi's country, medicolegal autopsies are not required for cases involving RTAs⁷.

In this particular investigation, a notable percentage of the cases, specifically 19.93%, were determined to be the result of natural causes leading to death. Within our comprehensive examination, it was observed that deaths associated with the respiratory system, accounting for a significant proportion of 42.34%, surpassed those linked to the cardiovascular system, which amounted to 28.86%. This finding closely aligned with the research conducted by Shrivastava et al. Furthermore, it is crucial to note that Radhakrishna et al. study yielded contrasting results, as they identified a higher number of deaths attributable to the cardiovascular system compared to those related to the respiratory system. Interestingly, the two aforementioned causes of death were succeeded by multiorgan failure, accounting for 21.10% of the cases, followed by deaths associated with the gastrointestinal tract system, amounting to 4.87%, and hematological diseases, which constituted 2.04% of the total cases. It is noteworthy to mention that within this study, nonviable and stillborn fetuses were classified as a natural type of death⁸.

Violent asphyxial deaths, which encompassed 10.48% of the total cases, exhibited a distinct composition. Of these occurrences, hanging cases dominated, accounting for 50.72% of the total, while drowning cases comprised 24.54%, strangulation cases accounted for 8.85%, and choking cases made up 15.85%. These observed figures align closely with the findings of previous studies conducted by Wasnik and Shrivastava et al., highlighting a consistency in the prevalence of these types of deaths. Among the unnatural deaths, regardless of the specific manner in which they occurred, a significant majority consisted of injury-related deaths. These cases were primarily attributed to road traffic accidents (RTAs) and rail accidents, wherein a substantial number of fatalities ensued from head injuries and multiple injuries. Following this category, deaths resulting from asphyxial causes represented 10.48% of the total cases, while burns accounted for 9.89%, poisoning for 9.04%, and electrocution for 2.03%, as depicted in Table 6. This distribution mirrors the patterns observed in previous studies conducted by Radhakrishna et al., Sharma et al., Wasnik, Shrivastava et al., and Zine et al., thereby supporting the consistency of these findings across various investigations. The reasons underlying this distribution can be attributed to several factors. Firstly, the presence of faster modes of transportation has contributed to an increase in traffic accidents, as individuals are able to travel more frequently and cover longer distances. Consequently, this heightened exposure to vehicular hazards has resulted in a notable rise in injury-related deaths. Moreover, the prevalence of industrial and occupational hazards has further contributed to the occurrence of fatalities related to asphyxial causes, burns, poisoning, and electrocution. The combination of these factors underscores the need for increased awareness and preventive measures in order to mitigate the risks associated with violent asphyxial deaths and other forms of unnatural deaths9.

Among 2326 autopsy cases, 6.39% were attributed to poisoning, prompting further investigation.

Notably, 0.62% involved unidentified poisons, posing a challenge for forensic experts. Acid ingestion was the most prevalent, followed by organophosphate (OP) and aluminium phosphide (ALP) poisonings, snake bites, and other factors. This aligns with previous studies, suggesting a consistent pattern. The prevalence is linked to the rural population's reliance on agriculture, increasing agrochemical poisoning incidence. This underscores the need for dedicated attention and intervention in addressing poisoning cases, particularly in agricultural settings, to ensure community well-being¹⁰.

During the analysis of thermal injuries, burns constituted 9.89% of cases, and electrocution accounted for 2.03%, emphasizing the significance of burns in the studied population. In this investigation, burns ranked fourth in frequency of deaths, following injury-related deaths, natural deaths, and violent asphyxial deaths, indicating their substantial role in mortality outcomes. Notably, a study by Zine et al. identified burns as the second leading cause of death, consistent with this research. Findings from studies by Wasnik and Qasim et al. add credibility and consistency to the recognition of burns as a significant contributor to mortality. The specific investigation period revealed only one firearm-related injury, differing from Qasim et al., study attributing higher numbers to firearms as a choice in homicides. This underscores the impact of weapon selection on injury patterns, urging comprehensive research. Analysis of thermal injuries, specifically burns and electrocution, offers valuable insights into their prevalence and impact on mortality, with consistent findings across studies. Emphasizing the importance of addressing these injuries, preventive measures are crucial. Further research is imperative to understand contributing factors and develop effective strategies for prevention and management in this field¹¹.

Road Traffic Accidents (RTA) are a tragic and preventable cause of high mortality. Advocacy for early education on traffic rules and awareness is crucial, coupled with stringent law enforcement. Natural deaths, often due to coronary insufficiency, rank as the next leading cause. Violent asphyxial deaths and burn cases follow closely. Poisoning, notably organophosphorus (OP) poisoning, is prevalent, exacerbated by the agricultural reliance of the majority. Prevention strategies include personalized counseling and the introduction of online services for poison treatment. These measures aim to reduce the impact of RTAs and other leading causes, emphasizing education, enforcement, and accessible support services¹².

Conclusion

This research on medicolegal autopsy cases at a government hospital contributes vital insights for policymakers, law custodians, and the community. It emphasizes the need for health awareness on stress management, traffic regulations, and motor vehicle laws to reduce casualties. Recommendations include improving road infrastructure, enforcing safety regulations, establishing emergency services, and trauma care centers. Addressing the population's exponential growth is crucial to mitigate the escalating number of accidents, highlighting the importance of comprehensive measures for community well-being.

Acknowledgement: I acknowledge to Dr. PraveshVerma and Dr. NavneetYadav to help in referencing of manuscript.

Conflict of Interest: Authors do not have any conflict of interest.

Source of funding: No funding provided.

Ethical clearance: No ethical required for the work.

References

- Raveesh BN, Nayak RB and Kumbar SF. Preventing medicolegal issues in clinical practice. *Annals of Indian Academy of Neurology* 2016; 19: S15-s20.
- 2. Eftekhari A, DehghaniTafti A, Nasiriani K, et al. Management of Preventable Deaths due to Road Traffic Injuries in Prehospital Phase; a Qualitative Study. *Archives of academic emergency medicine* 2019; 7: 32.

- Mokhtar M, Azab SMS, Hassan S, et al. Study of handling of medico-legal cases in governmental hospitals in Cairo. *Journal of forensic and legal medicine* 2018; 60: 15-24.
- Alabdulqader S, Alabdulqader R, Madadin M, et al. Emergency Physicians' Awareness of Medico-Legal Case Management: A Cross-Sectional Study from Saudi Arabia. Saudi journal of medicine & medical sciences 2023; 11: 60-66.
- Saurav C, Aayushi G, Behera C, et al. Medico-legal autopsy of 1355 unclaimed dead bodies brought to a tertiary care hospital in Delhi, India (2006-2012). *The Medico-legal journal* 2014; 82: 112-115.
- Goli S, Gautam A and Rana MJ. Is unintended birth associated with physical intimate partner violence? Evidence from India. 2020; 52: 907-922.
- Frankel HL, Coll JR, Charlifue SW, et al. Long-term survival in spinal cord injury: a fifty year investigation. *Spinal cord* 1998; 36: 266-274.
- Di Maio VJ and Di Maio DJ. Natural death as viewed by the medical examiner: a review of 1000 consecutive autopsies of individuals dying of natural disease. *Journal of forensic sciences* 1991; 36: 17-24.
- Sharma BR, Harish D, Sharma V, et al. Poisoning in northern India: changing trends, causes and prevention thereof. *Medicine, science, and the law* 2002; 42: 251-257.
- Patel J, Leach-Kemon K, Curry G, et al. Firearm injury-a preventable public health issue. *The Lancet Public health* 2022; 7: e976-e982.
- Vijayakrishnan G, Priyadharshini P, Ramraj B, et al. Factors associated and knowledge on road traffic accidents, rules among private university students in Chengalpattu district, Tamil Nadu, India - A cross-sectional study. *Journal of education and health promotion* 2022; 11: 148.
- Plainis S, Murray IJ and Pallikaris IG. Road traffic casualties: understanding the night-time death toll. *Injury prevention : journal of the International Society for Child and Adolescent Injury Prevention* 2006; 12: 125-128.

Spectrum, Pattern and Outcome of Trauma patients admitted to Tertiary care hospital in North India

Mohammad Abdurrahman Khan¹, Manisha Verma², Syed Fiza Mustaqueem³, Anoop Kumar Verma⁴, Syed Belal Hassan⁵, Iram Khan⁶

¹Associate Professor, Department of Forensic Medicine and Toxicology, Hind Institute of Medical Sciences, Barabanki, ²Senior Resident, Department of Periodontology, Faculty of Dental Sciences, King George's Medical, University, Lucknow, ³Associate Professor, Department of Pathology, Integral Institute of Medical Sciences & Research, Integral University, Lucknow, ⁴Professor and Head, Department of Forensic Medicine and Toxicology, King George's Medical University, Lucknow, ⁵Associate Professor, Department of Community Medicine, Integral Institute of Medical Sciences & Research, Integral University, Lucknow. ⁶Professor and Head, Department of Forensic Medicine and Toxicology, Hind Institute of Medical Sciences, Barabanki.

How to cite this article: Mohammad Abdurrahman Khan, Manisha Verma, Syed Fiza Mustaqueem et. al. Spectrum, Pattern and Outcome of Trauma patients admitted to Tertiary care hospital in North India. Medico Legal Update / Volume 24 No 1, January-March 2024.

Abstract

Introduction: Trauma is foremost reason behind the mortality and morbidity worldwide among all age groups. Trauma remains the vital public health issues worldwide and is independent of socioeconomic condition of a country. Incidence of trauma is still increasing with increase in incidence of violence, road traffic accident, assault and violence. Trauma will still remain if all medical and surgical diseases are overcome.

Aims and Objectives: The aims and objective of our study was to evaluate the spectrum, pattern, mechanism and outcome of trauma patient presenting at tertiary care hospital.

Results: Trauma patient visited to tertiary care hospital were 1926 (with 73% male and 27% female). Most common age group was 21-30 years. Most common mechanism of trauma was RTA which include 60% patient followed by fall. Most common site of injury was extremities followed by head and neck injuries. 28% of trauma patient were hospitalized. 66% of hospitalized patients were managed conservatively while 34% of the were managed surgically. 92% of the trauma patients were survived while mortality was only 8%.

Conclusions: RTA is most common form of trauma affecting most commonly young male in their third decade of life. Health education and behaviour change among the youngster about trauma may reduce the trauma injuries.

Keyword: Trauma; Injury; Tertiary care hospital; Road traffic accident; Hospitalization

Introduction

other force is known as trauma. Trauma shifts the patient into potential risk of death or disability.

Any physical injury caused by violence or any

Corresponding Author: Manisha Verma, Senior Resident, Department of Periodontology, Faculty of Dental Sciences, King George's Medical, University, Lucknow.

E-mail: vcmanisha29nov@gmail.com

Submission date: Dec 14, 2023

Revision date: Dec 23, 2023

Published date: 2024-02-14

Trauma is foremost reason behind the mortality and morbidity worldwide among all age groups¹. WHO reported that trauma is responsible for more than 5 million of annual death which is even more than the combined death caused by tuberculosis, malaria and HIV. Trauma remains the vital public health issues worldwide and is independent of socioeconomic blossoming². On the basis of cultural, developmental and geographical characteristic of a country, there is difference in pattern of trauma that reached to the treating hospitals. Hence epidemiology of trauma patients in India will differ from south to north India and from urban to rural areas³. Despite of immense significance, trauma is still considering as one of the neglected diseases of modern society. Incidence of trauma is still increasing since the incidence of violence, road traffic accident, assault and violence are increasing. Trauma will still remain if all medical and surgical diseases are overcome⁴.

Keeping all these in view, the aim and objective of our study was to evaluate the spectrum, pattern, mechanism and outcome of trauma patient presenting to the tertiary care hospital in Hind Institute of Medical Sciences, Barabanki.

Material and Methods

Present study was a 3 years retrospective study based on medical records of the trauma patients who came in the emergency department at tertiary care hospital of Hind Institute of Medical Sciences, Barabanki from August 2020 to May 2023. Various demographic data such as sex, age group, mechanism of trauma, distribution of injuries on body part, hospitalization of trauma patient and their management, average time of stay in hospital, time period between trauma and arrival at hospital and outcome of trauma patient. Medical records having insufficient data (such as patient absconded, referred or LAMA) were excluded from the study. Data entered in excel sheet and were quantified and analysed statistically using SPSS (Statistical Package for the Social Sciences).

Results

In the present study total number of trauma patient visited to tertiary care hospital with mentioned exclusion criteria were 1926 with 73% male (total

number 14114) and 27% female (total number 512) (Figure no.1). Most common age group of trauma patient in this study was 21-30 years (44%) (Table no. 1, Figure no.2). Most common mechanism of trauma in the present study was RTA (Road Traffic Accident) which include 60% (total number of patients 1155 out of 1926) of trauma patient followed by fall (Table no. 2). Among various types of falls, fall from height was most common with 270 patients followed by fall on ground (Figure no. 3). In the present study most common site of injury in the body was lower limb followed by upper limb followed by head and neck injuries (Figure no. 4).Out of 1926 trauma patients who came to the hospital only 28% of trauma patient were hospitalized (Figure no.5). Among the hospitalized patients 66% of patients were managed conservatively while 34% of the trauma patients were managed surgically (Figure 6). Among the hospitalized patients 25% of trauma patients stay for more than 3 days in the hospital while 75% of trauma patients stay for less than 3 days in the hospital (Figure no. 7). 27.4% of patient hospitalized to the tertiary care hospital within 30 minutes of trauma incidence while 72.6% of patients hospitalized after 30 minutes of trauma incidence (Figure no. 8). In the present study 92% of the trauma patients were survived while mortality was 8% (Figure no. 9)



Figure 1. Distribution of sex of trauma patient

| Ta | ble | e 1. | Age | gro | up | distri | bution | of | trauma | patie | nt |
|----|-----|------|-----|-----|----|--------|--------|----|--------|-------|----|
|----|-----|------|-----|-----|----|--------|--------|----|--------|-------|----|

| Age group (Years) | Number of trauma patient | Percentage |
|----------------------|--------------------------|------------|
| <10 | 83 | 4.3 |
| 11-20 | 462 | 24 |
| 21-30 | 848 | 44 |
| 31-40 | 250 | 13 |
| 41-50 | 158 | 8.2 |
| 51-60 | 73 | 3.8 |
| >60 | 52 | 2.7 |



Figure 2. Age group distribution of trauma patient

| Mechanism of | Number of Percenta | | | |
|----------------------|---------------------------------|---------------------|--|--|
| trauma | patients | | | |
| Fall | 525 | 27.2 | | |
| Trauma due to | 108 | 5.6 | | |
| animal | | | | |
| RTA | 1155 | 60 | | |
| Machine injuries | 54 | 2.8 | | |
| Violence/Assault | 38 | 2 | | |
| Other | 46 | 2.4 | | |
| 300 | | | | |
| 250 | | | | |
| 200 | | | | |
| 150 | | | | |
| 100 | | | | |
| 50 | | | | |
| 0 | Number of patient | | | |
| E Fall from height E | all on ground 		■ Fall from sta | air 🗧 Fall from bed | | |

Table 2. Various mechanism of Trauma







Figure 5. Hospitalization of trauma patient



Figure 6. Trauma Management of hospitalized patient







Figure 8. Time interval between Trauma incidence and hospitalization



Figure 9. Outcome of trauma patients coming to tertiary care hospital

Discussion

Present study revealed that male (73%) were predominant victim of trauma which was similar with the study done by Singh et al in rural setting of central Uttar Pradesh⁵, Jain et al in eastern Uttar Pradesh³, Kanwar et al in Himanchal Pradesh⁴ and many other studies^{6,7,8,9}. In the present study most common age group for trauma was 21-30 years which account for 44% of total trauma patients and was similar with the study of Bayissa et al², Jain et al³, Kanwar et al⁴ Singh et al⁵ and study of Ndubuisi O onyemaechi in Nigeria⁹. Reasons for male dominance and more trauma for this age group is as a greater number of vehicles run by male and more outdoor work along with involvement of risky activities by male. Male are often exposed to agricultural and occupational hazards since they are earning members of their family.

Most common mechanism of trauma in the present study was RTA followed by fall which was similar with the study of Jain et al³, Kanwar et al⁴, Singh et al⁵ and Roshanaei et al in their study at regional trauma centre in Midwest of Iran¹⁰ whereas Dosuza et al¹¹, Sharma et al¹², Ghimire et al¹³ and Klaiselvan et al¹⁴in their study reported most common mechanism of injury was fall followed by RTA. Reason behind such dissimilarities may be due to difference in geographical location. Most common mode of fall in our study was due to fall from height and it may be because of easy method of self-injuries. Most of the trauma patient in the present study sustained multiple injuries. In this study lower limb was most common site of injuries followed by upper limb followed by injuries to head and neck region.So, extremities is most common site of injury followed by head and neck region. Similar finding was reported by Bolandparvaz et al¹⁵ in South Iran region and Silver et al¹⁶whereas Kanwar et al⁴, Eftekhar et al¹⁷ and Moini et al¹⁸ in their study found most common site of trauma was Head and neck injury followed by extremities. In the present study only 28% of trauma patients were hospitalized. 66% of hospitalized patient were managed conservatively whereas 34% were managed surgically. 75 % of hospitalized patient stay in hospital for less than 3 days whereas 25% of trauma patients stay in hospital for more than 3 days. Similar finding of hospitalized patients was observed by Roshanai et al¹⁰. In the present study 27.4% of trauma patients brought to the tertiary care hospital within 30 minutes of the incidence of trauma whereas 72.6% of trauma patients brought to hospital after 30 minutes of the incidence of trauma which was similar with the finding of Hokkam et al¹. Reasons for early arrival of trauma patients to our tertiary care centre was due to location of Hind Institute of Medical Sciences at adjacent to national Highway (NH 27). About outcome, 92% of patients survived while only 8% of trauma victim expired in the present study. Reason for high survival and low mortality for trauma patients in our study was due to early arrival of trauma patient since the tertiary care centre located adjacent to national highway and hence management of trauma started early.

Conclusions

Trauma become global health hazard due to increase in the process of modernization and economic expansion. RTA is most common form of trauma and the dominant victims are young male in their third decade of life. Tertiary care centres must have well trained personnel. There should be a national injury surveillance unit which can help in injury prevention action such as to improve the existing strategies or to develop new strategies or policies. Health education and behaviour change among the youngster about trauma may reduce the trauma injuries.

Conflict of Interest: Nil

Source of Funding: Nil

Ethical Clearence: Has been taken from the Institutional Ethics Committee.

Abbreviations: WHO: World Health Organization, HIV: Human Immunodeficiency Virus, LAMA: Leave against medical advice, RTA: Road traffic accident.

References

- Hokkam E, Gonna A, Zakaria O, El-Shemally A. Trauma patterns in patients attending the Emergency Department of Jazan General Hospital, Saudi Arabia. World J Emerg Med. 2015;6(1):48-53. doi: 10.5847/ wjem.j.1920-8642.2015.01.009. PMID: 25802567; PMCID: PMC4369531.
- Bayissa BB, Alemu S. Pattern of trauma admission and outcome among patients presented to Jimma University Specialized Hospital, south-western Ethiopia. Trauma Surg Acute Care Open. 2021 Jun 3;6(1):e000609. doi: 10.1136/tsaco-2020-000609. PMID: 34151026; PMCID: PMC8183195.
- Jain M, Radhakrishnan RV, Mohanty CR, Behera S, Singh AK, Sahoo SS, Guru S, Barik S. Clinicoepidemiological profile of trauma patients admitting to the emergency department of a tertiary care hospital in eastern India. J Family Med Prim Care. 2020 Sep 30;9(9):4974-4979. doi: 10.4103/jfmpc.jfmpc_621_20. PMID: 33209831; PMCID: PMC7652149.
- Kanwar A, Malhotra P, Panwar V, Chauhan A, Sharma D, Verma DK. One year study of epidemiology of

trauma patients admitted in the main tertiary care hospital of the hilly state of Himachal Pradesh. Int Surg J 2019;6:1917-21. doi: https://doi.org/10.18203/2349-2902.isj20192145

- Singh NP, Singh RC, Singh V, Jain PK, Gupta P, Singh A. Clinico-epidemiological profile of trauma victims in a tertiary care hospital in rural setting of Central Uttar Pradesh. Indian J Comm Health. 2017;29(4):424-8. Doi: https://doi.org/10.47203/IJCH.2017.v29i04.014
- Jha N, Srinivasa DK, Roy G, Jagdish S. Injury pattern among Road traffic accident cases: A study from South India. Indian Journal of Community Medicine, 2003;28(2):85-90.
- Banerjee KK, Agarwal BB, Kohli A, Aggarwal NK. Study of head injury victims in fatal road traffic accidents in Delhi. Indian J Med Sci. 1998 Sep;52(9):395-8. PMID: 10085617.
- Awasthi B, Raina S, Verma L. Epidemiological determinantsof road traffic accidents in a largely rural hilly population.J Sci Soc 2019;46:79-85.
- Onyemaechi NO. Road traffic injuries in a Nigerian referral trauma center: Characteristics, correlates, and outcomes. Int J Crit Illn InjSci. 2020 Apr-Jun;10(2):64-69. doi: 10.4103/IJCIIS.IJCIIS_18_19. Epub 2020 Jun 8. PMID: 32904531; PMCID: PMC7456285.
- Roshanaei G, Khoshravesh S, Abdolmaleki S, Bathaei T, Farzian M, Saatian M. Epidemiological pattern of trauma patients based on the mechanisms of trauma: trends of a regional trauma center in Midwest of Iran. BMC Emerg Med. 2022 Dec 26;22(1):210. doi: 10.1186/s12873-022-00756-9. PMID: 36572877; PMCID: PMC9793657.
- Dsouza C, Rao VV, Kumar A, Diaz E. Epidemiological trends of trauma in tertiary care centre in dakshina kannada district of karnataka, India. J Clin Diagn Res. 2014 Mar;8(3):66-8. doi: 10.7860/ JCDR/2014/8643.4109. Epub 2014 Mar 15. PMID: 24783084; PMCID: PMC4003689.
- Sharma D, Panta PP, Amgain K. An Epidemiological Study of Injuries in Karnali, Nepal. J Emerg Trauma Shock. 2020 Jan-Mar;13(1):30-34. doi: 10.4103/JETS. JETS_14_19. Epub 2020 Mar 19. PMID: 32395046; PMCID: PMC7204945.
- Ghimire A, Nagesh S, Jha N, Niraula SR, Devkota S. An epidemiological study of injury among urban population. Kathmandu Univ Med J (KUMJ). 2009 Oct-Dec;7(28):402-7. doi: 10.3126/kumj.v7i4.2762. PMID: 20502082.

- Kalaiselvan G, Dongre AR, Mahalakshmy T. Epidemiology of injury in rural Pondicherry, India. J Inj Violence Res. 2011 Jul;3(2):62-7. doi: 10.5249/jivr. v3i2.74. PMID: 21498967; PMCID: PMC3134926.
- Bolandparvaz S, Yadollahi M, Abbasi HR, Anvar M. Injury patterns among various age and gender groups of trauma patients in southern Iran: A cross-sectional study. Medicine (Baltimore). 2017 Oct;96(41):e7812. Doi: 10.1097/MD.000000000007812. PMID: 29019874; PMCID: PMC5662297.
- Silver CM, Thomas AC, Reddy S, Sullivan GA, Plevin RE, Kanzaria HK, Stey AM. Injury Patterns and Hospital Admission After Trauma Among People Experiencing Homelessness. JAMA Netw Open. 2023 Jun 1;6(6):e2320862. Doi: 10.1001/

jamanetworkopen.2023.20862. PMID: 37382955; PMCID: PMC10311388.

- Eftekhar B, Zarei MR, Ghodsi M, Moezardalan K, Zargar M, Ketabchi E. Comparing logistic models based on modified GCS motor component with other prognostic tools in prediction of mortality: results of study in 7226 trauma patients. Injury. 2005 Aug;36(8):900-4. doi: 10.1016/j.injury.2004.12.067. PMID: 15964571.
- Moini M, Rezaishiraz H, Zafarghandi MR. Characteristics and outcome of injured patients treated in urban trauma centers in Iran. J Trauma. 2000 Mar;48(3):503-7. doi: 10.1097/00005373-200003000-00023. PMID: 10744293.

A Study on Pattern of Medico-Legal Cases at ESIC Medical College, Kalaburagi

Nagesh Kuppast¹, Santosh Garampalli², Shreekrishna H. K.³, Praveen⁴, Shradha Iddalgave⁵

¹Associate Professor, Dept. of Forensic Medicine and Toxicology, ESIC Medical College, Kalaburagi.
²Associate Professor, Dept. of Forensic Medicine and Toxicology, Mahadevappa Rampure Medical College, Kalaburagi, ³Professor. Dept. of Forensic Medicine and Toxicology, Basaveshwar Medical College and Hospital, Chitradurga, ⁴Assistant Professor, Dept. of Forensic Medicine and Toxicology, ESIC Medical College, Kalaburagi, ⁵Assistant Professor, Dept. of Anatomy, Mahadevappa Rampure Medical College, Kalaburagi, ⁵Assistant Professor, Dept. of Anatomy, Mahadevappa Rampure Medical College, Kalaburagi.

How to cite this article: Nagesh Kuppast, Santosh Garampalli, Shreekrishna H. K. et. al. A Study on Pattern of Medico-Legal Cases at ESIC Medical College, Kalaburagi. Medico Legal Update / Volume 24 No 1, January-March 2024.

Abstract

In casualty, Casualty Medical Officers come across a maximum number of Medico-legal cases. Any case where the doctor feels that it should be investigated by the Police or a Magistrate is considered as Medico legal case. As it is a Medico legal case, there will be an inquiry by the investigating officer and if needed an Investigating officer may require a report of that case to produce to the court. The doctor who has issued report can be called to the court to give the evidence regarding that case. Identifying the pattern of injuries, types of cases, age-wise distribution, and sex distribution of Medico-legal cases reported to the casualty department of the hospital will help administrators, social workers, NGO's, and policymakers to successfully manage and prevent such cases by devising necessary policies. A retrospective study was conducted at Employee State Insurance Corporation Medical College, Kalaburagi, Karnataka, India. All the reported cases to casualty between April 2022 and March 2023 at ESIC Medical College, Kalaburagi were analyzed. Total of 452 Medico-legal cases were analyzed which were attended in casualty in span of one year out of total 11288 Casualty cases. In that 344 were male and 108 female patients. In the present study, the maximum MLCs were Road Traffic Accidents, followed by assault, poisoning and others.

Keywords: Medico-legal cases, Road traffic accidents, Injury, Assault, Poisoning, and Casualty.

Introduction

In casualty, Casualty Medical Officers come across a maximum number of Medico-legal cases. Any case where the doctor feels that it should be investigated by the Police or a Magistrate is a Medico legal case. Which includes, injury as a result of assault, accident, suicide, self-inflicted, firearm, animal bite and bomb explosion, poisoning, and any unnatural case. It also includes a legal case when

Corresponding Author: Praveen, Assistant Professor, Dept. of Forensic Medicine and Toxicology, ESIC Medical College, Kalaburagi.

E-mail: dr.patilpraveen@gmail.com Mobile No: 8867185300 Submission date: Oct 10, 2023

Revision date: Oct 17, 2023

Published date: 2024-02-14

brought by the police for examination, requiring medical expertise since a doctor's knowledge may be necessary for the administration of law. It is an examination of the living person carried out under the law of the state for the protection of society and to help the administration of justice¹. Medico-legal cases are an essential component of medical practice and comprise the most important constituent of emergencies². In such cases, treatment of the patient along with proper documentation is very important. As it is a Medico legal case, there will be an inquiry by the investigating officer and if needed an Investigating officer may require a report of that case to produce to the court. The doctor who has issued report can be called to the court to give the evidence regarding that case.

Medico-legal cases cause extra burden to the hospital. Along with the treatment of the patient, detailed documentation, evidence collection, and intimation of police should be done. If necessary treated doctor may be asked to attend the court at his own expense. So it is both a human resource and financial burden on the hospital. In such cases, police intimation should be sent at the earliest. The idea is to initiate legal proceedings at the earliest so that maximum evidence can be collected to study the crime pattern in the area³. Among the medico-legal cases Road Traffic Accidents cases are more. Road traffic injuries are the leading cause of death globally and the principal cause of death in the age group of 15 to 49 years. Every year the lives of approximately 1.3 million people are cut short globally as a result of a road traffic crash. Unfortunately, more than 90 percent of road traffic deaths occur in lowand middle-income countries, even within highincome countries, people from lower socioeconomic backgrounds are more likely to be involved in road traffic crashes. India, ranks at the top with highest number of fatalities with about 11% share in the world. As per the 'Road Accidents in India 2021', there were 4,12,432 unfortunate incidences of road accidents during 2021 which claimed 1,53,972 lives and caused injuries to 3,84,448 persons⁴. As per the National Crime Record Bureau latest report on Road Accidents in India-2021, in Karnataka state, a total 40754 injured and 10,038 people died in road mishaps⁵.

Identifying the pattern of injuries, types of cases, age-wise distribution, and sex distribution of Medico legal cases reported to the casualty department of the hospital will help administrators, social workers, NGO's and policymakers to successfully manage and prevent such cases by devising necessary policies.

Total of 452 Medico-legal cases were analyzed which were attended to casualty in span of one year out of total 11288 Casualty cases. In that 344 were male and 108 female MLCs.

The present study is carried out with the objective of knowing different types of MLC, the pattern of injuries in Medico-legal cases and age – sex-wise distribution of cases, that were documented at the casualty of ESIC Medical College, Kalaburagi.

Materials and Methods

A retrospective study was conducted at Employee State Insurance Corporation Medical College, Kalaburagi, Karnataka, India. All the reported cases to casualty between April 2022 and March 2023 at ESIC Medical College, Kalaburagi were analyzed. Non Medico legal cases and cases with incomplete records were discarded. A total of 11288 cases were reported to casualty, in which 452 cases were Medico legal cases. Data related to the date of reporting the casualty, age, gender, and cause of being MLC were collected from the records. For sorting and analyzing data SPSS16 was used.

Results

Results are shown in the form of chart, graphs and tables. Total of 452 Medico-legal cases were analyzed which were attended to casualty in span of one year out of total 11288 Casualty cases. Of that, 344 were male and 108 female patients, which is shown in Figure - 1. Figure - 2 shows types of Medico-legal cases. Out of a total of 452MLC, 236 are male RTA cases and 34 are female RTA cases, 34 male assault cases and 12 female assault cases, 12 male poisoning cases and 24 female poisoning cases, 30 self-fall cases (26 Male and 4 female), Animal bite 18 cases (12 male and 6 female), burns total 12 cases(male 10 female 2), hit by bull 8 male and 2 female cases, workplace injuries 10 male cases and others 10 male cases. Figure - 3 shows the region-wise distribution of injuries. Head and Neck injuries were seen in 192 cases (160 males and 32 females), thoracic injuries in 20 cases (male 16 and female 4), abdominal injuries in 10 cases (8 males and 2 females), upper-limb injuries in 150 cases(120 males and 30 females) and lower limb injuries seen in 126 cases(110 males and 16 females). Column chart 2 shows age and sex-wise distribution of Medico-legal cases. Table number 1 shows types of injuries in various Medico-legal cases. Figure - 4 shows types of RTA cases. Figure – 5 shows cases of animal/reptile bites.







Figure - 2



Figure -3



Figure - 4

Table No. 1: Shows types of injuries in various Medico-legal cases.

| | Laceration | Abrasion | Contusion | Incision | Fractures |
|-------------------------------------|------------|----------|-----------|----------|-----------|
| RTA (Under influence of Alcohol) | 19 | 36 | 7 | 0 | 5 |
| RTA (Not under influence of Alcohol | 31 | 82 | 3 | 0 | 4 |
| RTA (Self Fall) | 83 | 148 | 5 | 3 | 10 |
| RTA (Collision with other Vehicle) | 24 | 38 | 4 | 0 | 1 |
| Assault | 16 | 16 | 7 | 0 | 3 |
| Self-Fall | 9 | 10 | 3 | 0 | 0 |
| Total | 182 | 330 | 29 | 3 | 23 |





Figure - 5


Discussion

When it comes to casualty, Medico-legal cases are more common. Casualty Medical officers are more worried about handling Medico-legal cases. The social, demographic, and epidemiological transition due to rapidurbanization, mechanization, and industrialization has augmented the frequency of such cases⁶. The present study shows that male MLCs (76.1%) are more common when compared with female MLCs (23.9%). Females are less helpless against relational interpersonal violence-based injury because of vengeance-free behavior and a traditionalist way of life. As males are more exposed to the outside world and events can happen at workplaces, on the roads, and other places of exposure.^{7,8} This is consistent with the study conducted by Dileep Kumar R, Siddaramanna TC, Shailesh V Parate, et. al.9, Dr. Manju. L, Dr. Nazeema Beevi. P¹⁰, Malik R, Atif I, Rashid F, et. al.¹¹, Timsinha S., Manjari S. K., Baral M. P.,¹² and Brahmankar, T. R., Sharma S. K.¹³ The present study reveals that maximum cases are RTA 279(235 male and 44 female cases), followed by assault 45(34 males and 11 female cases), poisoning 38(M/F – 9/28), self-fall 30(M/F – 22/8), animal bite 18(M/F - 10/8), burns 14(M/F - 9/5), workplace injuries 11(all male) hit by bull 9 case and 9 others. The present study results that is RTA cases being the maximum cases among MLCs is consistent with studies of Trangadia MM et al¹⁴, Yatoo GH et al¹⁵and

Siddappa S. C., Datta A. The commonest injuries are abrasion followed by lacerations, contusions, fractures, and incise wounds. Most common age group is 21 to 30 years (156 cases/34.51%) followed by 31 to 40 years (95 cases/ 21.01%), which is consistent with a study conducted by Zaheen U.¹⁶ Age group 21 - 30 years, has a great socio-economic impact as any kind of trauma leading to temporary and permanent disability and that will affect the individual as well as its family and as a whole society. According to the Karnataka Honorable High Court Order in Criminal Petition no: 370 of 2023 Dated 17-A2-2023, it has been noted that Wound Certificates are not being recorded correctly and written legibly and has hence directed Commissionerate Health & Family Welfare Services,5th Floor Arogya Soudha, Magadi Road, Bengaluru -560 023 to issue directions on the legible and correct recording of Wound Certificate by concerned. In case of grievous injury expert/specialist opinion is to be taken when required. Legally all MLC cases are to be intimated to the police in writing as per the Police Information Register and a written copy of it is to be maintained. Communication with the police, orally (or) through the phone is not acceptable. It is observed that in some of the medicolegal cases the patient was not given an OP slip and is referred to Taluk Hospital or Higher Centre with minimal documentation, then the Taluk Hospital or Higher Centre shall issue the wound certificate and provide treatment.

Conclusion

In the present study, the maximum MLCs are Road Traffic Accidents, seen more in males in the young age group (21-30 years), which has a great socio-economic impact. In this 17% of the cases were under the influence of alcohol, 47% collision, and the remaining self-fall from bike (36%). Not following traffic rules, drink and drive increases the incidence of Road Traffic accidents. Strict implementation of traffic rules, avoiding drink and drive, use of helmets/seat belts, avoiding use of mobiles while driving, and avoiding overspeeding, can reduce road traffic accidents. Next common is assualt, followed by poisoning and others. To handle such cases emergency department should be well-equipped with antidotes and other drugs necessary for treating such cases. Doctors in casualty are not only involved in treating patients but also in handling MLC. So they should be aware of the proper handling of Medicolegal cases. It will be good if MLCs are handled by specialists or by doctors trained by the specialist. This can definitely reduce cases of medical negligence and help in delivering the proper justice.

Conflict of Interest: There is no conflict of interest in our study as we have not gained any financial benefits from any organization.

Funding source: None.

Ethical clearance: NA

Reference

- Dogra T, Rudra AJDLH, Delhi. Lyon's Medical Jurisprudence and Toxicology, 2007, 188-93.
- Singh P, Verma SK. Profile of Medico-legal Cases Admitted at a Newly Established Rural Medical College Hospital of Central India. Medico-Legal Update. 2015;15(1):111-115. doi: 10.5958/0974-1283.2015.00026.2
- Gosselin RA, Spiegel DA, Coughlin R, Zirkle LG. Injuries: the neglected burden in developing countries. Bull World Health Organ. 2009;87(4):246–246a.
- 4. Road Accidents India 2021www.// efaidnbmnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/https://morth. nic.in/sites/default/files/RA_2021_Compressed.pdf
- https://www.deccanherald.com/india/karnataka/ karnataka-reports-third-highest-road-accidents-inindia-last-year-1160569.html
- Tajammul N, Chaudhry TH, Hanif S, Bhatti MA. Profile of medicolegal cases at Jinnah Hospital Lahore. Ann KEMU 2019; 11(3): 6-9.
- Burq AI, Khan MA, Javid MI. Distribution of medicolegal cases according to gender, season and weapon. JSZMC 2017; 8: 1189-91.
- Siddappa SC, Datta A. A Study Pattern of Medicolegal Cases Treated at a Tertiary Care Hospital in Central Karnataka. Indian J Forensic Comm Med. 2015;2(4):193-197.doi: 10.5958/2394-6776.2015.00002.8

- Dileep Kumar R, Siddaramanna TC, Shailesh V Parate, Hemanthraj M N. Retrospective Study of Profile of Medico-legal Cases in Tumkur Region, Karnataka. International Journal of Biomedical and Advance Research 2015; 6(4): 339-340.
- Manju. L et.al. A Study on Medico Legal Cases Attended in a Tertiary Care Hospital in South Kerala. International Journal of Health Sciences& Research (www.ijhsr.org) Vol.8; Issue: 11; November 2018.
- Malik R, Atif I, Rashid F, Abbas M. An analysis of 3105 Medico Legal Cases at Tertiary Care Hospital, Rawalpindi. Pak J Med Sci. 2017;33(4):926-930. doi: https://doi.org/10.12669/pjms.334.11696.
- SidhartTimsinha, SuvarnaManjari Kar, Madan Prasad Baral, MalshreeRanjitkar . Profile of Pattern of Medico-Legal Cases in the Casualty of A Teaching Hospital of Western Region of Nepal. J Indian Acad Forensic Med. Jan-March 2015, 37(1):46-49.
- Tanuja R. Brahmankar, Sachin K. Sharma . A record based study of frequency and pattern of medico-legal cases reported at a tertiary care hospital in Miraj. International Journal of Community Medicine and Public Health 2017;4(4):1348-1352.
- Trangadia MM, Mehta RA, Rada NH, Gupta BD. Profile of medico-legal cases in tertiary care hospital in Jamnagar, Gujarat: Retrospective study of one year. Journal of Research in Medical and Dental Science 2014; 2(4): 57-62.
- 15. Yatoo GH, Jalali S, Malik A, Khan A. Profile and pattern of medico-legal cases attending tertiary care hospital in North India. International Journal of Medicine and Pharmaceutical Sciences 2015; 5(5): 1-8.
- Siddappa S. C., Datta A., A Study Pattern of Medicolegal Cases Treated at a Tertiary Care Hospital in Central Karnataka. Indian Journal of Forensic and Community Medicine, 2015;2(4):193-197.
- Uzma Zaheen, Maryam Asif, Asrar-Ul-Haq, et. al. Pattern and Characteristic of Injuries of Medicolegal Cases. P J M H S Vol. 14, NO. 4, OCT – DEC 2020 1719-22.

Aortic Rupture Due to Blunt Force Trauma: A Case Report

Pankaj Sahu¹, Nikhil Mehta², Niranjan Kumar Gunjan³

¹Postgraduate Student, ²Assistant Professor, ³Associate Professor, Department of Forensic Medicine and Toxicology, VCSGGIMS&R Srikot, Srinagar, Uttarakhand.

How to cite this article: Pankaj Sahu, Nikhil Mehta, Niranjan Kumar Gunjan. Aortic Rupture Due to Blunt Force Trauma: A Case Report. Medico Legal Update / Volume 24 No 1, January-March 2024.

Abstract

Background: Aortic rupture is one of the most important life-threatening conditions. Aortic rupture can occur by several causes, including trauma and spontaneous rupture.

Case Details: A 62-year-old man was brought for an autopsy examination in a mortuary with a history of road traffic accidents. As per history revealed by the police and relatives, the deceased was a retired army officer and was driving a car.

Autopsy Finding: The deceased was an elderly male. On external examination, the deceased sustained multiple reddish abraded contusions over the chest and both sides of the chest. On opening the thorax, the following injuries were present. Fracture of sternum was present at junction of body and manubrium associated with extravasations of blood in surrounding area. Multiple fracture of bilateral ribs associated with extravasations of blood in surrounding area.

Discussion: All aortic segments are prone to rupture following sudden blunt trauma. In various studies it is found that 92% of aortic rupture occur at isthmus followed by arch of aorta (4%) followed by ascending aorta (3%).

Keyword: Road traffic accidents, thoracic aorta, traumatic aorta rupture, rib fracture.

Introduction

Aortic rupture is one of the most important lifethreatening conditions. Aortic rupture can occur by several causes, including trauma and spontaneous rupture. Trauma can result from blunt force impact, which cause by sudden and rapid deceleration, and/ or penetrating injuries. Aortic rupture usually has a fatal outcome, since the aorta is a large vessel that contains blood with very high pressure, any trauma resulting in fast evacuation of blood from the vessels, resulting in rapid haemorrhagic shock. Complete transaction of aorta leading to exsanguination and immediate death. Traumatic aortic rupture is the second leading cause of death amongst victims of blunt chest trauma in motor vehicle accidents. 15% of fatalities involving motor vehicles are caused by traumatic aortic damage, and 85% of these deaths happen on the spot.All three aortic layers are typically affected by aortic disruptions, which typically occur transversely at the isthmus.^{1, 2}

Corresponding Author: Nikhil Mehta Assistant Professor, Department of Forensic Medicine and Toxicology, VCSGGIMS & R Srikot, Srinagar, Uttarakhand.

E-mail: spankaj680@gmail.com Mobile No: 9354234261 Submission date: May 6, 2023 Revision date: September 27, 2023

Published date: 2024-02-14

Case Details

A 62-year-old man was brought for an autopsy examination in a mortuary with a history of road traffic accident. As per history revealed by the police and relatives, the deceased was a retired army officer and was driving a car. While driving, his car collided with a lorry coming from the opposite direction, and he was seriously injured and was brought to the Emergency Department of H.N.B base hospital Srikot, Srinagar U.K, a Tertiary care Centre where he was declared brought dead.

Autopsy Finding

- The deceased was elderly male. On external examination, the deceased sustained multiple reddish abraded contusions over the chest and both sides of the chest. On opening the thorax, following injuries were present:
 - 1. Sternum fracture was present at the junction of body & manubrium associated with extravasations of blood in surrounding area.
 - 2. Multiple fracture of bilateral ribs associated with extravasation of blood in surrounding area.
 - 3. Multiple contusions and lacerations of varying sizes were present over the both lungs.
 - 4. Complete transection of aorta at isthmus region was present.
 - 5. Pericardium was ruptured.
 - 6. Approximately 500ml of frank blood was present in thoracic cavity.
- In abdominal cavity multiple lacerations were present over the liver and peritoneal cavity was filled with approximately 1000 ml of liquid and clotted blood. Organs were pale in appearance.
- The cause of death in this case was opined as haemorrhage and shock, secondary to blunt force trauma to the chest and abdomen.

Discussion

All aortic segments are prone to rupture following sudden blunt trauma. In various studies it is found that 92% of aortic rupture occur at isthmus followed by arch of aorta (4%) followed by ascending aorta (3%). Descending aorta rupture was seen in 1% cases. Usually, all layers of aorta are involved in aortic transections, which happen transversely with the edges found several centimetres apart.^{1, 2,3,4,5}

The ligamentum arteriosum, the left main stem bronchus and the paired intercostal arteries limit movement of the proximal descending aorta. However, experiments have shown that displacement of the aorta in either the cranial or caudal direction can result in traction tears at the isthmus. ^{1, 2,3,4,5}

According to a different idea, the aorta bursts, and tears at its weakest spot when hydrostatic pressure suddenly increases at impact due to deceleration force.^{1, 2,3,4,5}

One of the recently done a study in USA and Canada was shows that 7000-8000 victims die every year in automobile related trauma and leading cause was blunt traumatic aortic rupture⁶.



Figure 1

Figure 2





Figure 4

Conclusion

One of the most serious and life-threatening conditions is aortic injury. It is the second largest cause of death worldwide, after head injuries. The most common cause is blunt trauma, but penetrating injuries may also be responsible. Significant mechanisms for aortic trauma damage included rapid acceleration and deceleration. Significant deceleration occurs in head-on collisions or lateral impact. The greatest risk involves frontal or side impacts.

Financial support and sponsorship: Nil

Conflicts of interest: There are no conflicts of interest

Informed consent: Not applicable as it is medicolegal autopsy based case where subject confidentiality was maintained.

Ethical clearance: taken from institutional ethical committee

Reference

- Harmouche M, Slimani EK, Heraudeau A, Verhoye JP. Blunt traumatic aortic rupture of the proximal ascending aorta repaired by resection and direct anastomosis. Interactive cardiovascular and thoracic surgery. 2013 Oct 1;17(4):739-40.
- Benjamin MM, Roberts WC. Fatal aortic rupture from nonpenetrating chest trauma. InBaylor University Medical Center Proceedings 2012 Apr 1 (Vol. 25, No. 2, pp. 121-123). Taylor & Francis.

- Penn JL, Martindale JL, Milne LW, Marill KA. Aortic dissection associated with blunt chest trauma diagnosed by elevated D-dimer. International Journal of Surgery Case Reports. 2015 Jan 1;10:76-9.
- Mosquera VX, Marini M, Gulías D, Cao I, Muñiz J, Herrera-Noreña JM, López-Pérez JM, Cuenca JJ. Minimal traumatic aortic injuries: meaning and natural history. Interactive cardiovascular and thoracic surgery. 2012 Jun 1;14(6):773-8.
- Hagan PG, Nienaber CA, Isselbacher EM, Bruckman D, Karavite DJ, Russman PL, Evangelista A, Fattori R, Suzuki T, Oh JK, Moore AG. The International Registry of Acute Aortic Dissection (IRAD): new insights into an old disease. Jama. 2000 Feb 16;283(7):897-903.
- Richens D, Field M, Neale M, Oakley C. The mechanism of injury in blunt traumatic rupture of the aorta. European Journal of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery. 2002 Feb 1;21(2):288-93.

A Cross-Sectional Study on Pattern of Thoraco-abdominal Injuries in Victims of Fatal Road Traffic Accidents

Kapil Yadav¹, Devinder Kumar Atal², Hitesh Chawla³, Renu Yadav⁴, Mustafa Khan⁵, Ravi Prakash Yadav⁶

¹Senior Resident, Department of Forensic Medicine & Toxicology, SHKM Govt. Medical College Nalhar, Nuh, Haryana, India, ²Professor and Head, Department of Forensic Medicine & Toxicology, SABV Govt. Medical College Chhainsa, Faridabad, Haryana, India, ³Professor, Department of Forensic Medicine & Toxicology, SHKM Govt. Medical College Nalhar, Nuh, Haryana, India, ⁴Junior Resident, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, SHKM Govt. Medical College Nalhar, Nuh, Haryana, India, ⁵PG Resident, Department of Forensic Medicine & Toxicology, SHKM Govt. Medical College Nalhar, Nuh, Haryana, India, ⁶Junior Resident, Department of Ophthalmology, SHKM Govt. Medical College Nalhar, Nuh, Haryana, India.

How to cite this article: Kapil Yadav, Devinder Kumar Atal, Hitesh Chawla et. al. A Cross-Sectional Study on Pattern of Thoraco-abdominal Injuries in Victims of Fatal Road Traffic Accidents. Medico Legal Update / Volume 24 No 1, January-March 2024.

Abstract

Background: Road traffic accidents are preventable public health issues and are becoming more common. These accidents can be linked to a number of factors, including an increase in the number of vehicles on the roads, changes in daily life, a nasty habit of breaking traffic laws, anarchic traffic systems, and risky driving practices. Thoraco-abdominal injury in different forms is one of the major causes of mortality in the victims of fatal road traffic accidents. The aim of this study was to know the pattern of thoraco-abdominal injuries in victims of fatal road traffic accident cases.

Material & Method: The present study was conducted at the tertiary healthcare centre in southern Haryana. Total of 75 cases of fatal road traffic accident cases were enrolled during one year of study period. The basic information about the deceased like age, gender, mode of travel of the victim was obtained from investigating officer narration and inquest papers. During autopsy, detailed examination of injuries was carried out and the autopsy findings were recorded and analyzed.

Results: It was observed that out of 75 cases male outnumbered females in ratio 5.25:1. Majority of the victims belonged to the age group 21-30 years. The commonest injury of the thoracic region was rib fracture (41.3%). It was also observed that 17.3% of victims had pelvic fracture.

Conclusion: Human error is a major contributing factor to fatal RTAs, which can be avoided in many cases. A more stringent licensing policy, particularly for four-wheelers, increased knowledge of traffic laws, the reduction of drug abuse and an appropriate road network that is in line with traffic volume can help to reduce the number of fatal road traffic accidents.

Keywords: Road traffic accidents; thoraco-abdominal injuries; rib fracture

Corresponding Author: Kapil Yadav, Senior Resident, Department of Forensic Medicine & Toxicology, SHKM Govt. Medical College, Nalhar.

E-mail: kapilthothwal@gmail.com

Submission date: Dec 23, 2023

Revision date: Jan 1, 2024

Published date: 2024-02-14

Introduction

Accident is an episode, occurring out of the blue, unexpectedly and unintentionally under unforeseen situations. Amongst all transportation accidents, road traffic accidents tend to be the most severe problem worldwide; a counter product of modernization and fast life.¹ Accidents occur not only due to ignorance but also due to carelessness, thoughtlessness and over confidence. Human, vehicular and environmental factors play a role before, during and after road traffic accidents.²

Injuries and fatalities occur in all forms of transportation but numerically road traffic accidents account for the great majority worldwide, causing more than a million deaths annually and injuring about 20–50 million. If the current trends continue, road traffic injuries are likely to rise to the fifth leading cause of death by 2030. The pattern of injury, fatal and otherwise, varies significantly depending upon whether the victim is a vehicle occupant, a motorcyclist, a pedal cyclist or a pedestrian.³

Road traffic injuries are the eighth leading cause of death for all age groups. More people now die as a result of road traffic injuries than from HIV/AIDS, tuberculosis or diarrhoeal diseases. Road traffic injuries are currently the leading cause of death for children and young adults aged 5–29 years, signalling a need for a shift in the current child and adolescent health agenda.⁴

Since the thoraco-abdominal cavity contains the vital organs such as heart, lungs, liver, spleen, stomach, kidney, major blood vessels, and ribs, trauma to this region challenges the integrity and even the viability of the individual. It is a leading cause of death in approximately 25% of trauma patients and, when associated with other injuries, it causes death in additional 50% of multiple trauma patients.⁵ The present study is an attempt to analyze the pattern of thoraco-abdominal injuries in autopsy cases with an alleged history of fatal road traffic accidents with regards to age, gender, mode of travel of victim, external and internal injuries sustained.

Material & Methods

The present study was a prospective, crosssectional study. The study was conducted in the Department of Forensic Medicine of a tertiary care center of southern Haryana. Total of 75 cases of fatal road traffic accident cases were included during one year of study period. Bodies that were decomposed, unidentified and those with no specific history were excluded from the study. A Proforma was designed specifically for the study purpose. Basic information of the deceased such as age, gender, address, travel mode of the victim was obtained from the reporting of investigating officer and inquest papers. Each injury was recorded as per the involvement of body region viz. thorax, abdomen and pelvis. During autopsy, detailed examination of injuries was carried out and the autopsy findings were recorded on standard autopsy proforma and the information thus collected, was statistically analyzed.

Observations & Results

In our study, it was observed that out of 75 cases, 63 were male (84%) and 12 were female (16%), the males outnumbered females in ratio 5.25:1.

It was observed that individuals belonging to the age group 21-30 years were most affected in road traffic accidents (26.7%), followed by 31-40 years (20.0%). The age wise distribution of victims is depicted in Figure 1.



Age Distribution

Figure 1: Bar diagram demonstrating the age distribution (%) of individuals involved in fatal road traffic accidents (n=75).

It was observed that motorcyclist / scooter occupants were most affected by RTAs comprising 65.3% cases followed by pedestrians (20%), light motor vehicle occupants (13.3.%) and least affected were heavy motor vehicle occupants (1.3%). (Figure 2)



Mode of travel of victim

Figure 2: Bar diagram demonstrating the mode of travel (%) of the victims involved in fatal road traffic accidents (n=75).

It was observed that the maximum number of road traffic accidents occurred in the morning between 06:00-11:59 hours followed by accidents occurring between 12:00-17:59 hours and the least number of RTAs occurred at night between 00:00-05:59 Hrs. (Figure 3)



Time of Incidence

Figure 3: Bar diagram demonstrating the time of incidence (%) of fatal road traffic accidents (n=75).

It was observed that 70.7% of victims succumbed within 1-6 hours after a fatal road traffic accident, followed by 17.3% within 1/2-1 hour and only

2.7% of the victims survived for more than 3 days. (Figure 4)



Duration of survival

Figure 4: Bar diagram demonstrating the duration of survival (%) in the victims involved in fatal road traffic accidents (n=75).

Injuries over thorax were mainly abrasions (32.0%) and contusions (30.7%). However, the majority of abdominal injuries were abrasions (17.3%). Those who had injuries over pelvic region majority had contusions (9.3%), followed by abrasions (4.0%).

It was also observed that the commonest injury of the thoracic region was fracture of ribs (41.3%) followed by lung injuries (4.0%). Among the abdominal injuries commonest injury was injury to mesentery followed by liver injury (4.0%), injury to intestine (2.7%) and least injured was spleen. It was observed that 17.3% of victims of fatal road traffic accidents had pelvis fractures. (Figure 5)



Figure 5: Bar diagram demonstrating the region of body involved and type of internal injury sustained (%) for the victims involved in fatal road traffic accidents (n=75).

Discussion

The number of deaths on the world's roads remains unacceptably high, with an estimated 1.35 million people dying each year. Road traffic injuries are now the leading cause of death for children and young adults aged 5–29 years. More than half of all road traffic deaths are among vulnerable road users; pedestrians, cyclists and motorcyclists.⁴

In our study a total of 75 cases that satisfied the inclusion and exclusion criteria were included and it was observed that out of 75 cases 63 were males (84%) and 12 were females (16%) and males outnumbered females in ratio 5.25:1. These findings are in general agreement with the studies conducted by Singh & Dhattarwal,⁶ Rao & Mukerjee,⁷ Verma et al.¹

In road traffic accidents, people between the age group of 21-30 years were most affected (26.7%), followed by those between the age group of 31-40 years (20.0%) and 41-50 years (18.7%). People between the age group of 51-60 years (2.7%) were least affected. Additionally, it was observed that victims of RTAs in this area were often older people over 61 years. Their ignorance of traffic safety precautions may be the cause of the rise in fatalities. Since the age group of 21-30 years is the most socially and physically active, it outnumbers other age groups on the road. It was also observed that the majority of the cases (65.4%) lie within the economically productive age group of 21-50 years. These findings are in general agreement with the studies conducted by Singh & Dhattarwal,⁶ Kiran et al.,⁸ Dhillon et al.⁹

It was observed that, in 65.3% of cases, riders of motorcycles and scooters were the most affected by road traffic accidents, followed by pedestrians (20%), drivers of light motor vehicles (13.3%), and drivers of heavy motor vehicles (1.3%). The majority of victims in this study were riders of motorcycles or scooters, which makes sense given that most Indian family, prefer to travel by motorcycle or scooter. Since this is a rural area, most people who use the roads are either pedestrians or two wheeler riders. The findings of the present study are in general agreement with the study conducted by Dagar et al.,¹⁰ Chourasia et al.¹¹ However, the findings are contrary to the study done by Khan et al.¹² as they observed that pedestrians were most commonly affected by fatal road traffic accidents.

It was observed that the maximum number of road traffic accidents occurred in the morning between 06:00-11:59 hours followed by accidents occurring between 12:00-17:59 hours and the least number of RTAs occurred at night between 00:00-05:59 hours. The reason for higher incidence in morning hours may be due to traffic rush as majority of the people travel for work, offices, school, etc These findings are in general agreement with the studies conducted by Murkey et al.,¹³ Shruthi et al.¹⁴ However, the findings of this study are contrary to the study done by Madhuvardhana et al.¹⁵ as they found maximum number of road traffic accidents in evening hours.

In the present study, it was observed that 70.7% of victim succumbed within 1-6 hours after fatal road traffic accident, followed by 17.3% within $1/_2$ -1 hours, 8% within 6-24 hours, 1.3% within 24-48 hours and only 2.7% of the victim survived for more than 3 days. The higher incidence of early deaths may be due to inadequacy of early transport and management of trauma patients. These findings also reflect the severity of the injury where the majority of the victims succumbed in early hours. The findings of this study are in general agreement with the study conducted by Verma et al.¹ However, the findings of this study are contrary to the study done by Shruthi et al.¹⁴ as they observed that the majority of victims survived for > 24 hours.

It was observed that the majority of the victims had multiple external injuries in the form of abrasions, lacerations, contusions and incised wounds over thoraco-abdominal region. Among the external injuries, abrasion was the most common injury, followed by contusions, lacerations and the least observed was an incised wound. The findings of this study are in general agreement with the study conducted by Abymon et al.¹⁶ It was observed that the commonest injury of the thoracic region was fracture of ribs (41.3%) followed by lung injuries (4.0%). Among the abdominal injuries commonest injury was injury to mesentery followed by liver injury (4.0%), injury to intestine (2.7%) and least injured was spleen. It was also observed that 17.3% of victims had pelvis fracture. The findings of this study are in general agreement with the study conducted by Numan et al17, However, the findings of this study are contrary to the study done by Gushinge et al.⁵ as they observed that among abdominal injuries the majority of victims had liver injuries followed by splenic injuries.

Conclusion

From the present study it was concluded that road traffic accidents were predominantly more common in males of age group 21-30 years; two wheelers' occupants followed by pedestrians were most vulnerable to road traffic accidents. In this study, thoracic injuries outnumbered the abdominal injuries in fatality. The study also showed that most road traffic accidents deaths, brought to a tertiary care rural hospital, took place within 6 hrs of injury which is indeed very alarming. Human error is a major contributing factor to fatal RTAs, which can be avoided in many cases. A more stringent licensing policy, particularly for four-wheelers, increased knowledge of traffic laws, the reduction of drug abuse and an appropriate road network that is in line with traffic volume can all help to reduce the number of fatal road traffic accidents.

Conflict of interest: None

Ethical approval: The study was approved by the Institutional Ethics Committee

Source of Funding: None

References

- Verma R, Bohra B, Garg V, Vaishnava N, Simatwal NK, Vyas PC. Profile of death due to road traffic accidents brought to Dr. S. N. Medical College & Hospital, Jodhpur. J Indian Acad Forensic Med. 2014;36(3):255-8.
- Guntheti BK, Singh UP. The pattern of injuries due to fatal road traffic accidents in and around Khammam. J Res Forensic Med Toxicol. 2016;2(2):8-13.
- Saukko P, Knight B. Knight's Forensic Pathology. 4th edition. New York: CRC; 2016.277p.
- 4. Global status report on road safety 2018: summary. Geneva: World Health Organization;2018.
- Gushinge MC, Govindwar S, Patel T. An autopsy study of thoraco-abdominal injuries in road traffic accidents. Asian j pharm clin res. 2023;16(6);71-73.

- Singh H,Dhattarwal SK. Pattern and distribution of injuries in fatal road traffic accidents in Rohtak. J Indian Acad Forensic Med. 2004;26(1):20-3.
- Rao D, Mukerjee S. A study of pattern of injuries in road traffic collisions. J Punjab Acad Forensic Med Toxicol. 2010;14-6.
- Kiran ER, Saralaya KM, Vijaya K. Prospective study on road traffic accidents. J Punjab Acad Forensic Med Toxicol. 2004;4(1):12-6.
- 9. Dhillion S, Kapila P, Sekhon HS. Pattern of injuries present in road traffic accident in Shimla hills. J Punjab Acad Forensic Med Toxicol. 2007;7(2):50-3.
- Dagar T, Jakhar JK, Khanna K, Vijay P. Road traffic accidents: An autopsy based comparative study of pattern & profile of fatality in Haryana region. Int J Sci Res. 2019;8(8):40-2.
- Chourasia S, Baghel J, Rautji R, Radhakrishna KV, Shivakumar DK. An autopsy study of fatal road traffic accidents at medico legal centre of a tertiary health care hospital in south western Maharashtra: six year retrospective study.Int J Biomed Adv Res. 2019;10(5):1-5.
- Khan RN, Radhakrishna KV, Rautji R. Profile of victims and offending vehicles in fatal road traffic accidents in western Maharashtra - An autopsy study. Int J Adv Res. 2019;7(5):138-42.
- Murkey P, Nagrale N, Tirpude B, Wankhade P, Patond S. Pattern of chest injuries in fatal vehicular accidents in central India. J Forensic Med Sci Law. 2012;21(2):1-7.
- Shruthi P, Venkatesh VT. Analysis of fatal road traffic accidents in a metropolitan city of South India. J Indian Acad Forensic Med. 2013;35(4):317-20.
- Madhuvardhana T, Naveen N, Arun M, Rao BA. Profile of road traffic accident cases in a tertiary care hospital, Puducherry. Int J Recent Trends Sci Technol. 2015;14(1):63-7.
- Abymon KK, Bhat MA, Bhat AM. Pattern of thoracoabdominal injuries in fatal road traffic accidents in Mangalore city. Indian J Forensic Med Toxicol. 2021;15(2):38-42.
- Numan H, Chavan KD, Bangal RS, Singh B. Pattern of thoraco-abdominal injuries in rural region. Indian J of Forensic Med and Pathology. 2009;2(3)97-103.

A Rare Case of Left Ventricle Free Wall Rupture at two sites Secondary to Myocardial Infarction: An Autopsy Case

Mayank Kishore chand¹, Pankaj Sahu², Niranjan Kumar Gunjan³, Nikhil Mehta⁴

¹Postgraduate Student, ²Postgraduate Student, ³Associate Professor, ⁴Assistant Professor, Department of Forensic Medicine and Toxicology, VCSGGIMS&R Srikot, Srinagar, Uttarakhand.

How to cite this article: Mayank Kishore chand, Pankaj Sahu, Niranjan Kumar Gunjan et. al. A Rare Case of Left Ventricle Free Wall Rupture at two sites Secondary to Myocardial Infarction: An Autopsy Case. Medico Legal Update / Volume 24 No 1, January-March 2024.

Abstract

Background: About 40–50% of occurrences of sudden death are due to cardiovascular reasons, with acute myocardial infarction (AMI) being the most common cause.

Case Details: The subject was 57 years male having alleged history of sudden fell down at his house and was unresponsive since then. He was brought to the Emergency Department of H.N.B Base hospital Srinagar, Garhwal, Uttarakhand.

Autopsy Findings: On opening pericardium, 190 grams of clotted blood was present in the pericardial cavity. Grossly enlarged heart. Weight of heart: 560 grams. Epicardial fat covers approx. 2/3rd of the heart's surface. It is present over the right ventricle especially along the right border, anterior surface and at the apex and along the distribution of coronary arteries.

Discussion: A myocardial rupture is the rupturing of one or more heart valves, the papillary muscles or chordae tendineae, the interatrial or interventricular septum, or the ventricles or atria of the heart.

Keywords: Sudden natural death, Left ventricular wall rupture, Cardiac tamponade.

Introduction

About 40–50% of occurrences of sudden death are due to cardiovascular reasons, with acute myocardial infarction (AMI) being the most common cause¹. Harvey originally documented free wall rupture of the heart following an acute myocardial infarct in 1647.² Duaine also concluded that a cardiac rupture never happened spontaneously after publishing the first significant series of individuals with the condition in 1871^{3,5}. It has been reported that following an acute myocardial infarction, the incidence of cardiac rupture varies between 1% and 3%. In patients with acute myocardial infarction, myocardial rupture is the second most frequent cause of hospital death. Ventricular rupture, a rare but deadly consequence of acute myocardial infarction (AMI), accounts for up to 15% of all AMI-related early fatalities in patients⁴. With the development of pharmacological therapy and immediate primary coronary intervention,

Corresponding Author: Nikhil Mehta, Assistant Professor, Department of Forensic Medicine and Toxicology, VCSGGIMS & R Srikot, Srinagar, Uttarakhand.

E-mail: drnikhilmehtamd@gmail.com **Mobile:** 9463233470

Submission date: December 9, 2023

Revision date: Dec 22, 2023

Published date: 2024-02-14

the frequency of cardiac rupture following acute myocardial infarction has declined throughout the previous 20 years. A myocardial infarct or blunt chest trauma are linked to the majority of cardiac rupture cases in which the pericardium is unharmed. An uncommon discovery like the reason of death can only be found by meticulous dissection and observation during the autopsy.

Case Details

The subject was 57 years male having alleged history of sudden fell down at his house and was unresponsive since then. He was brought to the Emergency Department of H.N.B Base hospital Srinagar, Garhwal, Uttarakhand, where he was declared brought dead. Police made an inquest as it was a case of sudden death and referred for medicolegal autopsy to the mortuary wing of Department of Forensic Medicine and Toxicology, VCSG Govt. Medical Science & Research Institute Srikot, Srinagar (PauriGarhwal) Uttarakhand.

Autopsy Findings

i. <u>External Examination:</u> The dead body of the subject was moderately built and well nourished, measured 179 cm and weighed 91.4 kg. On examination rigor mortis was present all over the body, hypostasis was present over the back except over pressure areas and fixed, pupils were bilaterally dilated and fixed. No external ante-mortem injury was present over the body after careful examination.

ii. Internal Examination

- On opening pericardium, 190 grams of clotted blood was present in the pericardial cavity.
- Grossly enlarged heart. Weight of heart: 560 grams. Epicardial fat covers approx. 2/3rd of the heart's surface. It is present over the right ventricle especially along the right border, anterior surface and at the apex and along the distribution of coronary arteries.
- Left ventricle was hypertrophied. Thickness of the left ventricle wall was 2.9 cm and right ventricle was 1.1 cm.

- Two lesions were present on gross examination. (a) Rupture of anteriolateral free wall of left ventricle, measuring 03cm x 0.5cm x cavity deep, associated with extravasation of blood in surrounding area was present, over the middle 1/3rd portion of left surface of the heart, situated 04cm above the apex. (b) Rupture of anterio-lateral free wall of left ventricle, measuring 1.2cm x 0.5cm x cavity deep, associated with surrounding dark mottled area was present over the middle 1/3rd portion of left surface of heart, situated 1.2cm lateral from previous rupture.
- Coronaries were gritty on cut section. Left anterior descending coronary artery was almost completely occluded, in its proximal epicardial course & 50-60% occlusion of Left circumflex artery and right coronary artery was patent.
- iii. The cause of death in this case was opined as complications of myocardial infarction.



Figure 1: Clotted blood in the pericardial sac



Figure 2: Ruptured left ventricle wall



Figure 3: occluded LAD

Discussion

A myocardial rupture is the rupturing of one or more heart valves, the papillary muscles or chordae tendineae, the interatrial or interventricular septum, or the ventricles or atria of the heart. The myocardium becomes necrotic and subsequently inflamed, which leads to the cardiac rupture syndromes. Myocardial ruptures are categorized as follows: Type I: a slit-like tear that happens 24 hours after an acute myocardial infarction. b) Type II: This kind of myocardial erosion usually happens 24 hours after the myocardial infarction and is indicative of a slow tear of the dead myocardium. c) Type III ruptures are distinguished by the early development of an aneurysm and the aneurysm's subsequent rupture. The area of the heart that has ruptured determines the anatomic classification of myocardial rupture.

Depending on which part of the heart has rup tured, myocardial rupture is classified anatomically. The most frequent type is rupture of the ventricular free wall, which can result in hemopericardium and cardiac tamponade. 2) Ventricular septal rupture (less common), which results in acute ventricle-to-right shunting and an acute VSD. 3) Rupture of the parietal muscle (less frequent), which causes an abrupt onset of severe mitral regurgitation. When coagulative necrosis, neutrophil infiltration, and myocardial connective tissue lysis have weakened the infarcted myocardium, free-wall rupture is most common 3 to 7 days after myocardial infarction (mean, 4 to 5 days; range, 1 to 10 days). The most typical location for post-infarction free-wall rupture, as in our case, is the anterolateral wall at the mid-ventricular level⁴.

Conclusion

In cases of unexpected, suspicious, or unnatural deaths, a medico-legal autopsy is performed. Ventricular free wall rupture at two sites as a complication of AMI is a rare cause of sudden death, even though AMI is the most common cause. Finding such a rare finding could direct and assist in the implementation of preventative measures to preserve the lives of those with any history of AMI, even if the condition is clinically ignored. To determine the cause of death, a thorough autopsy examination and careful dissection are therefore necessary.

Financial support and sponsorship: Nil

Conflicts of interest: There are no conflicts of interest

Informed consent: Not applicable as it is medicolegal autopsy based case where subject confidentiality was maintained.

Ethical clearance: taken from institutional ethical committee

References

- 1. Antman EM et al. Myocardial infarction: Management in Braunwald's Heart Disease, 9th Ed, RO Bonow et al.
- 2. Harvey W. The Works of William Harvey, MD. Sydenham Society; 1847.
- Matteucci M, Fina D, Jiritano F, Meani P, Blankesteijn WM, Raffa GM, Kowaleski M, Heuts S, Beghi C, Maessen J, Lorusso R. Treatment strategies for postinfarction left ventricular free-wall rupture. European Heart Journal: Acute Cardiovascular Care. 2019 Jun;8(4):379-87.
- Kumar PV, Begum T. Cardiac Tamponade due to Myocardial Rupture-a Case Report. Indian Journal of Forensic Medicine & Toxicology. 2016 Jan 1;10(1).
- Daş T, Buğra A. Pathological View of Cardiac Rupture and Myocardial Infarction. COMPREHENSIVE MEDICINE. 2022;14(1):85-90.
- Pollak H, Nobis H, Mlczoch J. Frequency of left ventricular free wall rupture complicating acute myocardial infarction since the advent of thrombolysis. The American journal of cardiology. 1994 Jul 15;74(2):184-6.

Morphological and Chemical Analysis of Farzi (Fake) Indian Currency

Niharika DN¹, Rakesh. V²

¹Student, Msc. Forensic Science, Department of Forensic Science, Garden City University, Bangalore, ²Asst. Professor, Department of Forensic Science, Garden City University, Bangalore.

How to cite this article: Niharika DN, Rakesh. V. Morphological and Chemical Analysis of Farzi (Fake) Indian Currency. Medico Legal Update / Volume 24 No 1, January-March 2024.

Abstract

In Forensic Science, Morphological and chemical analysis of farzi currencies plays a very important role in identifying the counterfeit currency. The term "counterfeit" refers to fake or forgery which is an exact replica of the original. As there is a rapid advancement in technology there is a drastic increase in crime rate with respect to technology as well where culprits are using advanced and modern technologies for committing crime, here counterfeit currency falls one among them, where culprits are using wellversed technologies in manufacturing fake notes and coins which cannot be easily recognized by the public. In India though RBI is taking a lot of precautions to overcome counterfeiting by implementing high security features in Indian currency such that it cannot be duplicated easily, some or the other way these fake currencies are circulating in the society and people are lacking knowledge in identifying these fake notes and coins.

Some of the security features for identifying these fake currencies is revealed to public by the RBI in its guidelines. Though criminals disguise the original by circulating fake currencies, it is impossible to implement the authenticated security features in it. The composition and its ratio of the original varies from the duplicate which is a loophole, and this can be easily analysed by forensic scientists by keen observations and conducting certain physical and chemical tests. We tried to differentiate between fake and original currencies of India by using RBI guidelines and by performing certain chemical tests through which counterfeit currencies can be analysed.

Key words: Counterfeit currency, Farzi (fake), RBI and its guidelines, Morphological and chemical Analysis, Advanced technologies, Security features.

Introduction

In forensic science, Identification of fake and original currency plays a very crucial rolin preventing certain crimes related to smuggling, crime against nation, white collar crimes and helps in finding the new technologies through which criminals are disguising the original currencies.

Though the criminals disguise the original currency, they can only produce a replica which

visually looks alike but they cannot produce the exact copy because original currency is manufactured with a lot of security features in it and some security features are hidden and they cannot be easily visible.

We considered Indian coins and notes for identifying the counterfeit currency and our Indian currency has a lot of security features embedded in it.

Some of the security features of Indian currency are mentioned below:

Corresponding Author: Rakesh. V, Asst. Professor, Department of Forensic Science, Garden City University, Bangalore **E-mail:** rakesh.v@gardencity.university

Submission date: Nov 24, 2023

Revision date: Dec 19, 2023

1. For Notes:

According to RBI guidelines notes can be identified by the following aspects:

a) Morphological analysis:

- We can observe the changes in Gandhi's picture on the note i.e., Gandhi's picture will have identical changes in its appearance because one cannot make the exact replica of it.
- Notes have the magnetic strips embedded on it in which Bharat (Hindi), RBI wordings are written on it in an alternative manner throughout the length of the strip. This strip can be identified only by scanning in government provided apps.
- Micro designs on the notes with different pattern of art on it This cannot be easily replicated because there will be minute spacing in between the design and only RBI has original design with it which is designed by the team of expert artists. If anyone tried to disguise it, it won't be the same because of the minutia characters.
- Watermarks of Gandhi's picture along with the denomination of currency in numbers is without distorted lines for the original note and will be in distorted lines in the fake notes.
- Micro lettering of the words 'Bharat' & 'India' are seen at Gandhi's collar in his picture on the note which cannot be matched even in high resolution scanners. There will belines on Gandhi's picture, these lines are in such away that they are superimposed in a different pattern called "MOIRE'S EFFECT".
- RBI microlettering is seen on the Gandhi's spectacle's frame.
- Ink used for manufacturing these notes is "optically variable ink (OVI)" also called as "colour shifting ink" which is fluorescent in nature and is an anti- counterfeiting measure taken by RBI.
- Original notes will be having a clear edge finishing and has a standard measurements and dimensions for each note of varying cost. Notes have a peculiar serial number where these serial numbers are in their increasing order.
- Notes are printed using special type of paper

having the composition of cotton fabric along with Lenin and gelatine. These papers are not easily available, the complete details and the purpose of use are recorded, and permission is required to use these papers.

- Standard thickness of notes as per new rule is about 90 GSM (grams per sq. Meter) for 10

 1000 rupees and having a calliper thickness
 110 microns for 10- 1000 rupees.
- Margin and corner designs of notes will be having micro lettering of RBI imprinted on it.

b) Chemicalanalysis:

- Magneticstrips when observed under UV light gives fluorescence.
- Solubility test can be performed (since it is a destructive method this test is notrecommended).
- Burntest can be performed (since it is adestructive method this test is not recommend).

2. For coins:

Indian coins are generally made up of metals such as stainless steel, nickel and brass and have a standard composition percentage.

a) Morphologic alanalysis:

- The metals used for coin manufacturing varies from one coin to other having different costs.
- The pattern in which the letters and designs imprinted on a coinisd one by "EMBOSSING" methods.
- Fonts and letters imprinted on coin will be different for counterfeit coins.
- Spacing between letters and alignment of the letters will be uneven in counterfeit coins.
- Standard Logo of Indian coins has a particular size, shape and embossing pattern which cannot be replicated by others, and we can easily differentiate these things in counterfeit coins.
- There is a standard measurement and thickness for every coin which is given by RBI, this can be identified for counterfeit coins.
- Coin edges will be having lands and grooves

with an equal spacing between them and this cannot be replicated.

• Margin designs are designed in apeculiar way which I simpossible to replicate.

b) Chemicalanalysis:

- Verniercallipers can be used to measure the thickness of the coins.
- Acid-base tests can be performed because the composition and quality of original coins are very high and quite resistant to acid and bases and counterfeit coins will not sustain acid base tests.
- Electric conductivity and resistivity can be checked.



Fig. 1 Showing original 1000 rupees note. Fig. 2 showing counter feit 1000 rupee note.

Examining a variety of Indian notes and coins helps in identifying the counterfeit currency and helps in understanding the methods used by the culprits to manufacture counterfeit currency to provide much more security and develop much more strong features to secure our currency.

Experimental section

- A total of 5 samples of counterfeit coins were collected and a sample of counterfeit note is collected along with it 7 original notes were collected of rupees 10,20, 50,100,200,500,2000.
- The experiment was carried out, under the following conditions:
 - a) A sample of counter feit note of 1000 rupees was compared with the original.
 - b) 5 samples of counter feit coins were subjected to acid test.
 - c) 7 samples of original notes were subjected to morphological analysis for exploring the security features on them.

1) Comparison of 1000 rupees note: (*from fig.* 1 *and fig.* 2)

• The analysis was done in naked eyes using magnifier.

- The comparison revealed changes in designs of the margin, the counterfeit note had a completely different design at the margin.
- The Gandhi's picture watermark of the counterfeit note was completely different.
- The counter feit note when touched it felt like aplasticcoatingonitandhada great thickness difference when compared to the original.
- The magnetic strip was embedded in the original note whereas a sticker resembling magnetic strip was pasted on the counterfeit note.
- There were no characteristic features like RBI, India was not visible on the collar of Gandhi in fake note.
- Moire's effect of super imposed line designs was missing in fake note and were present in original.

2) Acid test for counter feit coins:

- The coins were subjected to acid test using conc. HCl.
- The coins which were original did not showed any changes and blackening was less when treated with conc. HCl.
- The coins which were counterfeited were showing black precipitate along with fumes on it with change in colour that is the coin turned black. It may be caused due to change in composition of an individual coin as well.



Fig. 3 showing reaction of original and fake coins with conc. HCl.

Result and Discussion

Morphological analysis of original notes for exploring security features:

- The samples of 7 notes were collected and analysed.
- The security features like increasing serial number size in order, water mark of Gandhi, "RBI and Bharat " wording on Gandhi's

collar and spectacles were observed.

- The RBI wording was seen in the designs of margin of notes.
- The Moiré's effect was seen.
- There was agradual increase in size of serial number.
- Magnetic strips were seen embedded inside thenote on which RBI was written.

Table: 1 Showing chart of note specimens analysed for key identification security features:

| Sample Number | Specimen sample | Keyidentifying security features |
|--|---|---|
| Number | | |
| S1 | THIRDIN POINT AND | 1. Moire's effect |
| | | 2. RBI wording on spectacles |
| | | 3. Magnetic strip |
| | | 4. Serial.noinincreasing size |
| | | 5.RBI, India wording on Gandhi's collar |
| | | 6,7,8-wording of RBI on the margins. |
| S2 | \uparrow | 1. Increasing insize of serial.no |
| SHO 372381 Sho 372381 Sho 372381 Sho 372381 | Michael And Ann. Michael Anno Anno Anno Anno Anno Anno Anno Ann | 2. Moire's effect |
| | ₩ 9MC 1972381 | 3. Watermark of Gandhi |
| | \checkmark | 4. Magneticstrip |
| | | 5. RBI on spectals |
| | | 6,7 RBI words on collar and on margins. |
| S3 | \uparrow | 1. Moire's effect |
| | GGD 370940 | 2. RBI Wording on Gandhi's |
| | ₹10 | speciacies. |
| | | 3. Watermark of Gandhi |
| | | 4. Magneticstrip |
| | | 5. Serial. Noin increasing order. |
| | | 6,7,8 are the RBI wording on collar of |
| | | Gandhi's and at the borders. |

Like the above samples weeven performed analysis for 20rs, 200rs, 500rs and 2000rs.

By the above experiment we were able to differentiate between original and counterfeit currency and managed to identify maximum differences between original and fake notes and explored the security features given by RBI for Indian currency.

In coins we were able to clearly differentiate between original and counterfeit by acid test (conc. HCl) where, original coins did not react much and persisted their own colour and form but, counterfeit coins turned black along with the evolution of blackish fumes and bubbles were formed on the surface of the coins which is due to the metal reaction with the acid.

The possibility that this reaction may be due to the change in metal composition of fake and original coins.

Conclusion

By this we can conclude that people cannot easily distinguish between real and counterfeit currency which may lead to circulation of fake currency in the society. And as a forensic analyst we can differentiate counterfeit currency through scientific techniques as well as by using certain instruments also, by which we can help law enforcement agencies in preventing crimes related to fake currency smuggling, illegal selling fake currencies for higher prizes, damaging Indian economy that is crime against nation and much other aspects.

As a forensic expert, by following certain ethics and rules, we can prevent such kind of crimes and be a responsible citizen of the nation.

Limitations

- Sample collection of counter feit currency was difficult because of least availability.
- Sample collection was limited because it is illegal to possess counter feit currency.
- For fake note analysis certain tests like solubility test and burning tests are there. but it is not prescribed because it is a destructive method.
- Byacid test we can just identify the reaction occurring, but we cannot confirm the type of metal and composition of the metal can't be analysed.

• There are many more security features in Indian currency, but RBI made it confidential and doesn't reveal to the public in order to secure the country.

Scope for further enhancement

This study opens the scope for further research in understanding the techniques and methods used by the culprits to develop counterfeit currency in order to avoid crime as well as to enhance much more high security features to Indian currency so that no one can easily pyrite our currency.

It is self funding. **Conflict of interest:** Nil

References

- Khazaee S, Rad MS, Suen CY. Detection of counterfeit coins based on 3D height-map image analysis. Expert Systems with Applications. 2021 Jul 15;174:114801.
- Kumar SN, Singal G, Sirikonda S, Nethravathi R. A novel approach for detection of counterfeit Indian currency notes using deep convolutional neural network. InIOP conference series: materials science and engineering 2020 Dec 1 (Vol. 981, No. 2, p. 022018). IOP Publishing.Sharan, V., & Kaur, A. (2019). Detection of counterfeit indian currency note osing image processing.
- Gautam K. Indian currency detection using image recognition technique. In2020 International Conference on Computer Science, Engineering and Applications (ICCSEA) 2020 Mar 13 (pp. 1-5). IEEE.
- Verma R, Ramakrishnan NR. Forensic Examination of Counterfeit Indian Currency based on Unique Obscure High Security Features in New Indian High Denomination Currency Note. Arab Journal of Forensic Sciences & Forensic Medicine. 2019 Dec 31;1(10):1433-44.
- Tele GS, Kathalkar AP, Mahakalkar S, Sahoo B, Dhamane V. Detection of fake Indian currency. International Journal of Advance Research, Ideas and Innovations in Technology. 2018;4(2):170-6.
- Khazaee S, Sharifi Rad M, Suen CY. Detection of counterfeit coins based on modeling and restoration of 3D images. InComputational Modeling of Objects Presented in Images. Fundamentals, Methods, and Applications: 5th International Symposium, CompIMAGE 2016, Niagara Falls, NY, USA, September 21-23, 2016, Revised Selected Papers 5 2017 (pp. 178-193). Springer International Publishing.

- Hossfeld M, Chu W, Eich M, Adameck M. Fast 3D-vision system to classify metallic coins by their embossed topography. ELCVIA: electronic letters on computer vision and image analysis. 2006:47-63.
- Baek S, Choi E, Baek Y, Lee C. Detection of counterfeit banknotes using multispectral images. Digital Signal Processing. 2018 Jul 1;78:294-304.Kamble, K., Bhansali, A., Satalgaonkar, P., &Alagundgi, S. (2019, December). Counterfeit currency detection using deep convolutional neural network. In 2019 IEEE Pune Section International Conference (PuneCon) (pp. 1-4). IEEE.
- Potluri T, Jahnavi S, Motupalli R. Mobilenet V2-FCD: fake currency note detection. InAdvanced Informatics for Computing Research: 4th International Conference, ICAICR 2020, Gurugram, India, December 26–27, 2020, Revised Selected Papers, Part I 4 2021 (pp. 274-282). Springer Singapore.Komali, G. M. T., Chaturya, B., Manjulatha, L., Durga, J. S., Jyothsna, K., & Devi, M. S. R. INDIAN CURRENCY RECOGNITION FOR VISUALLY CHALLENGED PEOPLE USING RESNET.
- 10. TINAJERO JL, LOZADA P, CABRERA F. Sistema de control visual y función sensorial para la

implementación de unaplataformamóvildiferencial. Sistema. 2018;39(51).

- 11. Jadhav MB. Currency identification and forged banknote detection using deep learning techniques.
- Ahmed N, Vasudha S, Yashaswini KS, Ahmed SA. Indian Currency Detection Using Image Recognition Technique. In2021 International Conference on Design Innovations for 3Cs Compute Communicate Control (ICDI3C) 2021 Jun 10 (pp. 211-215). IEEE.
- Viraktamath SV, Tallur K, Bhadavankar R. Review on detection of fake currency using image processing techniques. In2021 5th International Conference on Intelligent Computing and Control Systems (ICICCS) 2021 May 6 (pp. 865-870). IEEE.
- Amirsab SA, Mudassir M, Ismail M. An automated recognition of fake or destroyed Indian currency notes. International journal of advance scientific research and engineering trends volume. 2017 Jan;2(7).
- Colaco RM, Fernandes R, Sowmya S. Efficient Image Processing Technique for Authentication of Indian Paper Currency. In2021 International Conference on Computer Communication and Informatics (ICCCI) 2021 Jan 27 (pp. 1-8). IEEE.

An Analytical Study on Medicolegal Cases at a Tertiary Care Hospital

Naresh Karukutla¹, Sreedhar Reddy Surasani², V K V S Naga Kalyan³, Saranya Hanumanthu⁴

¹Professor, ²Professor and Head, ³Tutor, ⁴Intern, Department of Forensic Medicine and Toxicology, NRI Institute of Medical Sciences, Sangivalasa, Visakhapatnam.

How to cite this article: Naresh Karukutla, Sreedhar Reddy Surasani, V K V S Naga Kalyan et. al. An Analytical Study on Medicolegal Cases at a Tertiary Care Hospital. Medico Legal Update / Volume 24 No 1, January-March 2024.

Abstract

Introduction: Medico-legal audits are an integral part of hospital/clinical audits and involve examination of the hospital records. The clinical audits aim towards improvement of quality of care and hence are limited to the scrutiny of patient's clinical records. On the other hand, a medico-legal audit aims at the prevention of foreseeable litigations on the hospital and includes the perusal of all the hospital records.

Aim: To perform a Medicolegal records audit at a tertiary care hospital

Results: Road traffic accidents are the major Medicolegal cases(65%) arriving to the emergency department. Males are more involved in the Medicolegal incidents than females.

Conclusion: The medico-legal auditing helps in the necessary changes to be put forth for the better functioning of the hospital

Key words: Audit, Documentation, Medicolegal records

Introduction

A physician has a dual responsibility, the first being a duty of care towards the patient and secondly, a duty to serve the interest of justice¹. These two roles should be executed in a balanced way when came across a medico-legal case. Documentation of medical records is regarded as an essential element in the legal system of country². Auditing includes an examination of records, whether financial or nonfinancial, maintained by the institute and to express an opinion based on these records, whether they are within specific law and regulations applicable to that entity or institute³.Medico-legal audits are an integral part of hospital/clinical audits and involve examination of the hospital records. Clinical audit is a process that has been defined as a quality improvement process that seeks to improve patient care and outcomes through systematic review of care against explicit criteria and the implementation of change⁴.These clinical audits aim towards improvement of quality of care and hence are limited to the scrutiny of patient's clinical records. On the other hand, a medico-legal audit aims at the prevention of foreseeable litigations on the hospital and includes the perusal of all the hospital records⁵. The importance of these medico-legal audits arises

Corresponding Author: Naresh Karukutla, Professor, Dept.of forensic medicine, NRI Institute of Medical Sciences, Sangivalasa, Bheemunipatnam, Visakhapatnam.

E-mail: drnaresh2704@gmail.com

Submission date: Jan 18, 2024

Revision date: Jan 29, 2024

Published date: 2024-02-14

mainly in cases where the hospital has to deal with the legal system of that land. In order to prevent the litigations arising, every hospital shall incorporate and make the medico-legal audits mandatory.

Aim

To study the available records and conduct an audit at a tertiary care hospital.

Methodology

This is a document based retrospective study which was conducted in a tertiary care hospital during the period January 2022 to December 2022. A total number of 653 medicolegal cases documented during this period were studied. All the Medicolegal cases that arrived to the emergency room of the hospital were properly recorded in the Medicolegal register. These records were studied and analysed by using a master chart after obtaining permission from the Institutional Ethics Committee and head of Emergency Medicine Dept.

Results

Age and Sex

The age and sex of the individual is recorded accurately for all the cases. In this study, most no. of cases (496) were in the age group of 21-40 years when compared to other age groups and males outnumbered the females(males=477, females=176) (Table -1) of the total cases. This clearly depicts that the middle age group males were the victims in these Medicolegal cases.

Type of Medicolegal case

The type of case whether it is RTA, poisoning, burns, hanging, drowning, fall from height, brought dead cases etc were 100% recorded in the MLC register. As per the study, the majority of the Medicolegal cases arrived to the emergency department were road traffic accidents (422) followed by poisoning cases (97) (Fig-1) (Table-1). This shows that accidents are the most common MLCs which can be reduced by stringent laws, proper laying of roads and proper usage of helmets etc.

Time of incidence

The incidence time for few cases was not mentioned in some records. As per the available data, the study shows that more no. of incidents (340) occurred from 6AM – 6PM (daytime) when compared to cases (290) during 6PM – 6AM (nighttime). This shows that many cases can be prevented from occurring as most of them were during daytime.

Admission in hospital

The details regarding admission are missing in 1% of the records. As per the data, almost equal no. of cases were admitted in the hospital (268) and got treated in the out-patient basis (286). Some cases were LAMA (62) and very few brought dead cases (3).

Clinical details

In most no. of documents, the recording of the pulse (44%) and the Blood pressure (69%) of the patient was not entered. The presenting complaints were not recorded in 2% cases and alleged history was not written in 3% of the cases.

Intimation to Police

For every case the police intimation was sent. For those jurisdictions which are at a long-distance communication was sent by telephone.





Table No.1: Type of Medicolegal case

| Type of | Male | Female | Total no. |
|------------------|------|--------|-----------|
| Medicolegal Case | | | of Cases |
| RTA | 318 | 104 | 422 |
| Poisoning | 58 | 39 | 97 |
| Fall from height | 41 | 12 | 53 |
| Assault | 42 | 09 | 51 |
| Burns | 17 | 09 | 26 |
| Asphyxia cases | 01 | 03 | 4 |

Discussion

In the present study it was found that in some cases the relevant information was not documented properly. As medicolegal documentation is vital in the court of law it is essential for the hospital authorities to ensure proper training by forensic experts so that the litigations does not arise.

The study shows majority of cases (about 65%) arrived to emergency department were road traffic accidents and males were involved more. The emergency medicine should be equipped with well trained staff for the immediate resuscitative measures and then after the Medicolegal documentation.

The younger age group was the most suffered victims in our study. Hence the govt. shall impose stringent laws and safety awareness campaigns to reduce road traffic accidents.

In most of the records time of incidence was recorded, a key to know the time taken to approach for treatment so that an aggressive management can be started immediately in delayed cases.

Sangeeta Regge et al in a study concluded that due to ambiguity in the understanding the MLC, more and more health care professionals are looking at MLC as a burden. Their study suggested that there was a need of standard operating procedures in the context of doctors, nurses and police and their respective medicolegal roles⁶.

For proper training in medico-legal documentation, the casualty must be attached to and supervised by the Forensic Medicine department and interns and postgraduates in Forensic Medicine should be posted⁷.

While conducting the auditing, the auditor shall not only study the cases but ensure to look on the maintenance of registers, their proper storage for the time period as per the laws of that land, provide information to the authorities for necessary changes and their implementation for better functioning of organization. Another major concern is maintaining confidentiality of the patient records as the patient can hold the doctor and the hospital negligent for breaking confidentiality of his records⁸.

Conclusion

The suggestions that can be provided by well performed audit are

a. Designing SOPs for healthcare workers with respect to medico-legal work

b. Continuous monitoring of health records documentation in addition to medicolegal cases

c. Improvement in the healthcare services and maintenance of documents based on the review of audit and patient feedback

Ethical Clearance: Obtained from institutional ethics committee (I.E.C, NRIIMS;

Ref. code: S.No - 52, Dt 06/03/2023)

Source of Funding: Self

Conflict of Interest: Nil

References

- Wilks M. Medical ethics and the forensic physician. In: Payne-James J, Dean P, Wall I, editors. Medicolegal Essentials in Healthcare. 2nd ed. London: Greenwich Medical Media Ltd.; 2004.p.21-27.
- Gutheil TG. Fundamentals of medical record documentation. Psychiatry (Edgmont) [Internet]. 2004;1(3):26-8. Available from:http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/ 21191523. http:// www. pubmedcentral.nih.gov/ articlerenderPMC3010959
- Medico-legal Audit: An essential yet ignored aspect of healthcare in India. Navneet Ateriya, Ashish Saraf, Vikas Meshram, Puneet Setia, Tanuj Kanchan, Raghvendra Singh Shekhawat.Department of Forensic Medicine & Toxicology, All India Institute of Medical Sciences, Jodhpur, India. J Indian Acad Forensic Med. 2019 Jan-Mar; 41(1): 53-56
- 4. https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Clinical_audit
- Ateriya N, Saraf A, Meshram V, Setia P, Kanchan T, Shekhawat RS. Medico-legal Audit: An essential yet ignored aspect of healthcare in India. J Indian Acad Forensic Med. 2019;41(1):53–6.
- Rege S. Medico-legal cases across various hospitals- A review & understanding of procedures. Medico-Legal Update. 2011;11(2):71–3.
- Sharma BR, Harish D, Chavali KH. Teaching, training and practice of Forensic Medicine in India: An overview. JIAFM. 2005; 27(4): 247-51.
- Thomas J. Medical records and issues in negligence.In: Indian Journal of Urology [Internet]. Wolters Kluwer
 -- Medknow Publications; 2009 [cited 2020Sep 6]. p. 384–8. Available from:/pmc/articles/PMC2779965

A Pattern of Unnatural Mortalities at Tertiary Care at Sarguja Region of Chhattisgarh: A One-Year Retrospective Study

Prakash Deepak¹, Kumar Gyanendra², Agrawal Rahul³, Xaxa Sanjeev⁴

^{1,4}Assistant Professor, Department of Forensic Medicine & Toxicology, RSDKS Government Medical College, Ambikapur, Sarguja, ²Associate Professor & Head, Department of Forensic Medicine & Toxicology, CIMS, Bilaspur, ³Assistant Professor, Department of Forensic Medicine & Toxicology, CIMS, Bilaspur.

How to cite this article: Prakash Deepak, Kumar Gyanendra, Agrawal Rahul et. al. A Pattern of Unnatural Mortalities at Tertiary Care at SargujaRegion of Chhattisgarh: A One-Year Retrospective Study. Medico Legal Update / Volume 24 No 1, January-March 2024.

Abstract

The pattern of unnatural mortalities reflects the prevailing social set-up and mental health status of the region. To understand the magnitude and pattern of unnatural deaths in the Sarguja region of Chhattisgarh, a one-year retrospective study was carried out in the Department of Forensic Medicine, RSDKS Government Medical College, Ambikapur, Sarguja. The study revealed a male predominance-affected age group of 21–30 years, followed by 31–40 years, mostly in summer. We found that head injury and polytrauma are major causes of unnatural death; they contribute mainly to traffic accidents.

Key word: Unnatural Death, Manner of Death.

Introduction

According to the Bhagavad Gita, Lord Krishna said: - "One who has taken his birth is sure to die, and after death one is sure to take birth again" (Chapter 2 verse 27).

Death is inevitable. It has been lamented for centuries. Thanatology (Greek thanatos = death, logus = science) is a branch of medical science that deals with the study of death¹. Death is the extinction of life, indicated by a complete and prolonged cessation of respiration and circulation combined with a complete cessation of brain function².

Section 46 IPC defines death denotes death of a

human being unless the contrary appears from the $\mathrm{context}^3$.

An unnatural death was defined as any death caused by external causes, which could be intentional or unintentional⁴. The manner of death refers to the way in which the cause of death occurred. If the death is due to an illness, the manner of death is 'natural', and if it is due to an injury, the manner of death is 'violent'/unnatural.

Violence can result in an accident, suicide, or homicide, depending on the circumstances. The manner of death here in India is determined by the court after examining all aspects of the case, including the doctor's statements and his interpretation of the findings.

Corresponding Author: Xaxa Sanjeev, Assistant Professor, Department of Forensic Medicine & Toxicology, RSDKS Government Medical College, Ambikapur, Sarguja.

E-mail: sanjeevxaxa722@gmail.com

Mobile No: 9826347557

Submission date: December 6, 2023

Revision date: Dec 15, 2023

Published date: 2024-02-14

In the United States and some other countries where there is a 'Medical Examiner System,' the manner of death is also expected from the doctor after he has examined the scene/incident and the victim⁵.

Factors leading to unnatural deaths include traffic accidents, poisoning, falls, drowning, fires, burns, smoke, firearm discharge and electrocution⁶. Other factors include deaths from space programming, death in sports, industrial accidents, collapsed buildings and unsafe sleeping places⁷.

In our study conducted at RSDKS Government Medical College, Ambikapur, SargujaTo understand the magnitude and patterns of unnatural deaths, the study included those who were brought for postmortem during the period from January 1, 2022 to December 31, 2022.

Aims of the study

In this study, we will find out how the pattern of unnatural death affects the frequency, age, sex, seasonal variation, and type of death, and find remedies to reduce the frequency.

Material and Methods

The present study is conducted in the Department

of Forensic Medicine, RSDKS Government Medical College, Ambikapur, Sarguja. The department receives cases for autopsy from district of Sarguja region. Only the cases whose cause of death was unnatural i.e., homicide, suicide and accident and doubtful cases grouped as undetermined were selected.

The data is analysed retrospectively for the period of one year from January 1 to December 31, 2022. All data were collected from the records in the department. From the first of January to the end of December 2022, a total of 799 autopsies were performed in the morgue of the Department of Forensic Medicine. Of these, 3 intrauterine foetuses and 1 skeletonized remains were excluded from the study.

Observation and Results

1. Gender-specific distribution of cases:

| S.No. | Gender | No. of cases | Percentage |
|-------|--------|--------------|------------|
| 1 | Male | 581 | 73.08% |
| 2 | Female | 214 | 26.92% |
| Total | | 795 | 100 |

Table 01: - Gender wise distribution of unnatural deaths shows that most of the cases were males (73.08%) while females constituted 26.92%.

| S.No. | Age in year | Male | Female | No. of cases | Percentage |
|-------|-------------|------|--------|--------------|------------|
| 1 | <1 | 03 | 07 | 10 | 1.26% |
| 2 | 1-10 | 14 | 12 | 26 | 3.27% |
| 3 | 11-20 | 68 | 38 | 106 | 13.33% |
| 4 | 21-30 | 174 | 53 | 227 | 28.55% |
| 5 | 31-40 | 122 | 38 | 160 | 20.13% |
| 6 | 41-50 | 90 | 31 | 121 | 15.22% |
| 7 | 51-60 | 55 | 12 | 67 | 8.43% |
| 8 | 61-70 | 40 | 16 | 56 | 7.04% |
| 9 | >70 | 15 | 07 | 22 | 2.77% |
| Total | | 581 | 214 | 795 | 100 |

2. Age and Sex wise distribution of the cases:

Table 02: The age and sex wise distribution of unnatural deaths shows that the age group of 21 to 30 years was the most affected (28.55%), followed by

the age group of 31 to 40 years (20.13%) and the age group of less than one year was the least affected.

| S.No. | Seasonal distribution (Month) | No. of cases | Percentage |
|-------|-------------------------------|--------------|------------|
| 1 | Summer (March -June) Jan | 299 | 37.61% |
| 2 | Rainy (July – October) Feb | 268 | 33.71% |
| 3 | Winter (NovFebruary) March | 228 | 28.68% |
| Total | | 795 | 100 |

3. Seasonal variation in the distribution of cases:

Table 03: The study shows that the seasonal distribution of unnatural deaths, most cases in the

summer season 37.61%, followed by the rainy season 33.71% and in the winter season 28.68%.

| S. No. | Cause of death | No. of Cases | Percentage |
|--------|-----------------------------------|--------------|------------|
| 1 | Head Injury | 179 | 22.52% |
| 2 | Polytrauma | 124 | 15.61% |
| 3 | Hanging | 91 | 11.45% |
| 4 | Poisoning | 85 | 10.69% |
| 5 | Pending (For chemical analysis) | 69 | 8.68% |
| 6 | Natural | 60 | 7.55% |
| 7 | Snake Bite | 51 | 6.42% |
| 8 | Drowning | 37 | 4.65% |
| 9 | Burn | 30 | 3.77% |
| 10 | Abdominal Injury | 13 | 1.63% |
| 11 | Electrocution | 11 | 1.38% |
| 12 | Thoracic Injury | 09 | 1.13% |
| 13 | Animal (Elephant, Bull, Tiger and | 09 | 1.13% |
| | Dog) Assault | | |
| 14 | Aspiration | 06 | 0.75% |
| 15 | Bee Sting | 06 | 0.75% |
| 16 | Undetermined | 05 | 0.63% |
| 17 | Limb Injury | 04 | 0.50% |
| 18 | Lightning | 03 | 0.38% |
| 19 | Strangulation | 03 | 0.38% |
| Total | | 795 | 100% |

4. Cause of death according to distribution of cases:

Table 04: The distribution of unnatural causes of death shows that the main causes are head injuries and polytrauma, which occur most frequently in traffic accidents, followed by falls from a height, hanging and poisoning.

| S. No. | Manner of death | Male | Female | No. of Cases | Percentage |
|--------|---------------------|------|--------|--------------|------------|
| 1 | Natural | 42 | 18 | 60 | 7.55% |
| 2 | Suicidal | 130 | 64 | 194 | 24.40% |
| 3 | Accidental | 351 | 106 | 457 | 57.48% |
| 4 | Homicidal | 14 | 11 | 25 | 3.15% |
| 5 | Undetermined | 04 | 01 | 05 | 0.63% |
| 6 | Pending report till | 34 | 20 | 54 | 6.79% |
| | Chemical analysis. | | | | |
| Total | | 575 | 220 | 795 | 100 |

5. Manner of death - distribution of cases:

Table 05: Distribution of unnatural deaths by manner of death Accident 57.48%, including RTA, fall from height, burns, drowning, snakebite, electrocution, animal attack and lightning strike, suicide 24.40%, homicide 3.15% and natural causes of death 7.55% each.

Discussion

Unnatural death is one of the indicators of social and mental health. Crime has never left human society since its appearance on this earth. Unnatural deaths include deaths caused by a person's negligent acts, criminal intentions, or planned omissions, as well as deaths where there is no illegal intent but death is caused by an accident or mishap.

In our study, unnatural deaths were higher in men than in women. The study is similar to the studies of M. Deepak et al.⁹, Dr. Awdhesh Kumar et al.¹⁰, Zahid Hussain Khalil et al.¹¹, AB Zarami et al.¹², and Anjanamma T et al.¹³. Men are mostly involved in socio-political disputes and crimes due to their work culture, and they take many risks leading to unnatural deaths.

The age distribution of unnatural deaths is predominantly in the age group 21–30 years, followed by 31–40 years. The study is similar to those of M. Deepak et al.⁹, Dr. Awdhesh Kumar et al.¹⁰, and AB Zarami et al.¹² and differs from those of Anjanamma T et al.¹³ This preponderance of the younger age group could be due to the stress factors one is exposed to at this age. This is the age when individuals are approaching the crucial moments of their lives, such as employment, marriage, and family responsibilities, which makes them vulnerable to various hazards of life. The difference from the study of Anjanamma T et al.¹³ could be due to the fact that after 30, life becomes calmer and brings less stress than in the 31–40 age group in our region.

Our study shows that most unnatural deaths occur in the summer region, followed by the rainy season, similar to the studies of M. Deepak et al.⁹ and Dr. Awdhesh Kumar et al.¹⁰ In our region, most family members are free from work and go on holiday or to a wedding party.

In our study, the most common cause of unnatural death was head injury, followed by polytrauma. Both injuries mostly contribute to traffic accidents. The study is similar to the studies of Deepak M. et al.⁹, Dr. Awdhesh Kumar et al.¹⁰, and differs from the studies of Zahid Hussain Khalil et al.¹¹, AB Zarami et al.¹² This difference is mainly due to the fact that the study was conducted outside of India, and law and order prevail in their own country. In India, the studies are similar due to the general problem of traffic congestion.

In our study of the nature of death, most unnatural deaths fall under accidental death, followed by suicide. Studies of M. Deepak et al⁹, Anjanamma T et al¹³ differs from a Study of Zahid Hussain Khalil et al¹¹ due to the law-and-order situation in the country. A similar study of fatalities is attributed to poor enforcement of traffic rules and regulations, drunk driving, risk-taking behavior by teenagers and other poor road conditions.

Conclusion

The law-and-order situation in a particular jurisdiction is the main reason for planning such studies for situational analysis of unnatural deaths in the study region to compare with the national and global statistics and to find possible remedial measures to minimize the incidence of unnatural deaths. The predominant sex, predominant age group, causes and manner of unnatural deaths in our study are more or less similar to the pattern found in most of the national studies.

It can be concluded from the study that most victims of unnatural deaths are men who have died in traffic accidents.

These are mostly younger people who are losing their economic power due to the loss of the productive population.

These deaths can be prevented through strict enforcement of traffic rules and national health programs.

Suicide poisoning needs to be addressed early through government policies. Education and encouragement of the leaders of the society will reduce unnatural deaths. **Acknowledgments:** The author would like to thank the faculty and staff of the Department of Forensic Medicine, RSDKS Government Medical College, Ambikapur, Sargujafor their valuable support and extensive help in data collection of the autopsied cases.

Conflict of interest: None

Source of funding: This research was not financially supported by any funding organization.

Ethical approval: The present study was approved by the Institutional Ethical Committee" of the RSDKS Government Medical College, Ambikapur, Sarguja. All information was considered by the Medical Ethics Committee.

Reference

- Bardale Rajesh. Principles of Forensic medicine & toxicology.2nd ed. New Delhi: Jaypee the health sciences publisher; 2017.p. 130.
- Mukherjee's JB, edited by Karmakar RN. Forensic medicine and toxicology. 4th ed. Kolkata: Academic publishers;2011. p. 219.
- Narayan Reddy KS, Murty OP. The Essentials of Forensic Medicine & Toxicology. 35th ed. New Delhi: Jaypee brothers' medical publishers; 2022.p. 99.
- 4. Segen medical dictionary (2012): Available from https//medical dictionary the freedictionary.com/ unnatural death. Accessed on 24 August 2019.
- Vij K. Textbook of forensic medicine and toxicology. 5th ed. New Delhi: Elsevier; 2011.p.77.
- Danis, G G. Mind your manner's part 1. History of death certification and manner of death classification. AMJ forensic Med Pathol. 1997; 18:219-223.

- Seleye-Fubara, D. Pathology of firearm mortalities in the Niger Delta region of Nigeria: a study of 136 consecutive autopsies. Med. Sci. Law. 2009; 49(1): 622-26.
- Ghulam Mustafa Yousfani and Muhammad Umer Memon. Spectrum of unnatural deaths in Hyderabad: An Autopsy based study. Journal of Dow University of Health Sciences, Karachi. 2010; 4(2):14041-14044.
- M. Deepak, Bharath Shetty, Francis N.P. Monteiro, Karen Prajwal Castelino, Arun Pinchu Xavier, Tanush Shetty. Spectrum of unnatural deaths: autopsies conducted at A. J. Institute of medical sciences & research centre, Mangalore. IP International Journal of Forensic Medicine and Toxicological Sciences. 2019;4(4):111-117.
- Dr. Awdhesh Kumar, Dr. Surender Kumar Pondey and Dr. Singh, T. B. A Descriptive Study on Trend of Unnatural Deaths in Varanasi, India. International Journal of Current Research. 2015; 7 (3):14041-14044,
- Zahid Hussain Khalil, Muhammad Naeem, Muhammad Adil, Muhammad Zia ul Islam Khan, Syed Hussain Abbas, Faqirullah. Analysis of autopsy record of unnatural deaths in Peshawar district. JPMI. 2013; 27 (4): 392-396.
- AB Zarami, A Kabir, SS El-Buba, UH Pindiga. Patterns of Unnatural Deaths during Insurgency in Maiduguri, Borno State, North-Eastern Nigeria: A Ten-Year Retrospective Review. Borno Medical Journal. 2021; 18 (1): 1-7.
- Anjanamma T, Vijaya NM, Vijayanath V, Praveen Athani. A Study of Unnatural death at MVJ Medical College and Research Hospital. Indian Journal of Forensic and Community Medicine. 2016;3(2):138-141

Epidemiotoxicological Profile of Fatal Poisoning Cases Autopsied at a Tertiary Care Hospital

Shreekrishna H.K¹, Venu², Dileepkumar K.B³

¹Professor Basaveshwara Medical College & Hospital, Chitradurga India. Department of Forensic Medicine & Toxicology, ²Assistant professor Government district Hospital Chitradurga, ³Associate professor department of Forensic Medicine, shri atalbihari Vajpayee medical college and research institute Bangalore.

How to cite this article: Shreekrishna H.K, Venu, Dileepkumar K.B. Epidemiotoxicological Profile of Fatal Poisoning Cases Autopsied at a Tertiary Care Hospital. Medico Legal Update / Volume 24 No 1, January-March 2024.

Abstract

Poisoning is a major public health problem worldwide with thousands of death occurring every year and most of the cases are being reported from developing countries. The present study includes all the cases of poisoning or suspected poisoning subjected for autopsy at the Department of Forensic Medicine and Toxicology, Basaveshwara medical college and hospital, chitradurga, Karnataka during the period 1st january 2022 to june 2023 in which it was seen that poisoning accounted for 19.9% of autopsies. 24 Males (66.6%) and 12 females (12%) in the age group 21-30 years were commonly affected. Many victims were married males. Majority of cases were suicidal in manner (94.4%) and were from middle class social status (41.1%). The commonest poisoning was organophosphorus compound.

Key words: Poisoning, ingestion; victims

Introduction

Toxicology is a science which deals with the toxicity of substances. The substance inflicting a toxic effect may be a drug, an insecticide, a pesticide or any chemical substance in the environment. In fact every substance is theoretically capable of producing toxicity and every drug is potentially a poison for routine purposes¹. Poisoning is one of the most common cause of medical emergency visits and leading cause of disease and death in India and global public health concern. It is one of the most common method of committing suicide among both males and females in India. It is estimated that more than 50,000

people die every year from toxic exposure in India.^{2,3}. It is one of the preventable cause of death.

Aims and Objectives:

To know the distribution of poisoning cases among different age, sex, frequently used poisonous substance, incidence among literate and illiterate individuals, different socioeconomic status.

Materials and Methods

It is a retrospective study of all the cases autopsy done in the department of Forensic Medicine and Toxicology, Basaveshwara medical college and

Corresponding Author: Dileep Kumar K B, Associate professor department of Forensic Medicine, shri atalbihari Vajpayee medical college and research institute Bangalore.

E-mail: drdileepkb@rediffmail.com

Submission date: Oct 7, 2023

Revision date: Oct 12, 2023

Published date: 2024-02-14

hospital, chitradurga, Karnataka during the period 1st january 2022 to june 2023 with the history of posisoning. Also includes all fatal cases which were admitted at Basaveshwara medical college and hospital, and died later. Information was collected through hospital records, police records, chemical analysis reports, by direct interaction with victim or relatives and finding of autopsy which are presenters like age, sex, marital status, literacy status type of poison, mode of poisoning, manner of poisoning post mortem findings and chemical analysis results. In all cases where samples gave negative results categorized poison as unknown. The data of certain variables were collected and analysed in latest SPSS regarding age, sex, socioeconomic status, maritalstatus, commonly abused poison. The statistical analysis of data from this study was carried out using relevant tables as well as descriptive statistics such as percentage.

Observations and Results

A total of 36 cases of fatal poisoning cases were subjected to autopsy examination. The incidence of poisoning and various cases are shown in table no.1.36 cases of recorded death were due to poisoning during the study period and following observations were made. Total male affected were 24(66.6%) and female were 12(33.3%) (Table 2). The study revealed that more number of persons affected were in the age group of 21-30 years followed by 31-40,followed by 41-50 and least affected age group was 0-20 years(table no.3).

It is evident that 22 victims (41.6%) were of medium socioeconomic status (table no.4). The study revealed that more number of victims were from rural area 66.6% (table no.5).

The study revealed that more number of victims were literate 55.6% (table no.6).

The study revealed that more number of victims were unmarried 63.6% (table no.7).

The study revealed organophosphorus compounds is the most prevalent poison involved in the study population 66.6% (table no.8).

The study revealed that most of the cases were of suicidal in nature 99.4. (table no.9).

Table 1: Showing various types of cases

| Types of cases | N= | % |
|----------------|----|------|
| Natural | 5 | 2.7 |
| Hanging | 22 | 11.9 |
| Poisoning | 36 | 19.5 |
| RTA | 61 | 33.1 |
| Drowning | 8 | 4.3 |
| Snake bite | 6 | 3.2 |
| Electrocution | 5 | 2.7 |

Table 2: Showing sex distribution of fatal poisoning cases

| Sex | N= | % |
|--------|----|------|
| male | 24 | 66.6 |
| female | 12 | 33.3 |

Table 3: Showing age distribution of fatal poisoning cases

| age | frequency | percentage |
|-------|-----------|------------|
| 0-20 | 2 | 5.5 |
| 21-30 | 13 | 36 |
| 31-40 | 10 | 27.7 |
| 41-50 | 5 | 13.8 |
| >50 | 6 | 16.6 |

Table 4: Showing socioeconomic status of fatalpoisoning cases

| status | N= | % |
|--------|----|------|
| Low | 9 | 36 |
| Medium | 15 | 41.6 |
| high | 12 | 33 |

Table 5: Showing domicile distribution of fatalpoisoning cases

| domicile | N= | % |
|----------|----|------|
| rural | 24 | 66.6 |
| urban | 12 | 33.3 |

Table 6: Showing literacy status of fatal poisoningcases

| literacy | N= | % |
|------------|----|------|
| literate | 20 | 55.5 |
| illiterate | 16 | 44.4 |

| Marital status | N= | % |
|----------------|----|------|
| married | 13 | 36.1 |
| urban | 23 | 63.8 |

 Table 7: Showing marital status of fatal poisoning cases

Table 8: Showing commonly abused poison by victims

| Poison abused | N= | 0/0 |
|------------------|----|------|
| Organophosphorus | 20 | 55.5 |
| Carbamates | 3 | 8.3 |
| Pyrethroid | 2 | 5.5 |
| Paraquat | 3 | 8.3 |
| Corrosives | 3 | 8.3 |
| Rat poison | 3 | 8.3 |
| unknown | 4 | 11.1 |
| total | 36 | |

Table 9: Showing manner of poisoning cases

| manner | N= | % |
|------------|----|------|
| Accidental | 34 | 94.4 |
| Suicidal | 2 | 5.5 |
| homicidal | 0 | 0 |

Discussion

Out of total of 184 autopsies, poisoning accounted for 19.5% of cases. Grag V and Verma S⁴ in their study on trend of poisoning in rural area of South West Punjab found 12.15% of total admitted MLC cases were of poisoning, Findings were similar to those obtained by Naik S B Alva M, Shetty D⁵ in Karnataka. Gupta B D et al⁶ in their study on profile of fatal poisoning in and around Jamnagar observed incidence medico legal autopsies ion poisoning cases to be 15.98% and Gargi J, Tejpal H R et al⁷ in their retrospective autopsy study of poisoning cases in Northern region of Punjab observed 11.60% incidence.

In the current study most of the victims were males 66.6% and females accounted for 33.3% Which is true in case of several studies also. Job C⁸, Mohanty A C et al⁹, Harish D et al¹⁰, Behra A et al¹¹, Aggarwal N K et al¹² observed higher incidence of poisoning in males then females. This observation may be attributed to stress, unemployment greater number of various responsibilities and stress due to bad health of earning member of the family and inability to cope up with them triggers suicides.

Higher incidence of poisoning was observed in age group of 21 to 30 years in 36% cases followed by 31 to 40 years in 27.24% of fatal poisoning cases in the present study. Similar observations were made by shetty A K et al¹³, Zariwala R et al¹⁴, Behra A et al¹¹, Job C^{8,} Gupta B D et al ⁶, Gargi J, Tejpa H R et al⁷, and Dhanya S P et al¹⁵. Kohli A & Banerjee KK¹⁶, from Delhi observed higher incidence of poisoning in the age group 13-24 years (53.50%) and 25-36 years (22.40%). Ramesh K N observed that more than 60% of victims were between the age of 12 and 20 years while 20 to 29 years age group accounted for 30.2% of incidence of poisoning. Sunanda N et al⁵ found that highest incidence of poisoning 58% was seen in the age group 12 to 25 years followed by in 26 to 45 years age group that is 28%. Higher incidence of poisoning cases have been observed in unmarried individuals may be because of loneliness and health issues.

Marriage of any person is a new transitory phase in any one's life which adds to responsibilities and psychological pressure on any person. Stressful situations like disharmony existing between family members, dowry, financial problems, depression, and ongoing physical and psychological changes, responsibility of running the family etc these factors trigger suicidal attempt.

Petrovic B et al ¹⁷, in their study on the influence of marital status on epidemiological characteristics suicides in the South East party of Serbia found married women committing more suicides by poisoning than those who are unmarried. Sunanda N et al⁵ found that highest incidence of poisoning that is 66% was seen in unmarried females followed by married males. In the present study it was observed that as per police Report suicidal poisoning was reported in 94.4% fatal poisoning cases followed by accidental in 5.5% cases .Similar observation were made by Zariwala R et al¹⁴observed major chunk were of suicidal cases 62% cases. Gupta B D et al⁶, Kohli A &BAnerjee K K 16, Murty O P et al ¹⁸, Shetty A K et al¹³, Harish D et al¹⁰ and Haparin J H et al ¹⁹observed that suicide make a major part of the study that suicidal cases varies from 40% to 70% followed by accidental and homicidal cases. Accidental exposure can result from improper use of chemicals at work or play, product mislabeling, label misreading, mistaken identification of unlabeled chemicals, uniformed self medication and dosing error by nurses, parents, pharmacists, physicians and elderly.

Conclusion

Following are the most conclusion from the study

Most of the victims were males which is 24 number (66.6%) and most of the persons affected were in the age group of 21-30 years It is evident that most of the victims (41.6%) were of medium socioeconomic status. The study revealed that more number of victims were from rural area. The study revealed that more number of victims were literate 55.6%. The study revealed that more number of victims were unmarried 63.6%. The study revealed organophosphorus compounds is the most prevalent poison involved in the study population 66.6%. The study revealed that more of suicidal in nature (99.4%).

As organophosphorus compounds are easily available to public these should be curtailed by stringent implantation of laws for sellers and buyers. Public awareness regarding the different poisons which are likely cause of accidental poisoning is necessary. There must be availability of poison information centers.

Conflict of interest: nil

Source of funding: self

Ethical clearance: obtained

References

- K Mathiharan and amrit K Patnaik , Modi's Medical Jurisprudence and Toxicology, Laxis Nexis Butterworths Publication, 23rd edition, (2006) pages 1-43.
- 2. Dr. V V Pillay, Comprehensive Medical Toxicology , 2nd edition, Paras publication,2007, pages 1-63
- Aggarwar P, Handa R, Wali J P. Common poisoning in India Journal of Forensic medicine and toxicology,(1998) pages 1-15

- Dr. Vishal Garg, Dr. s K Verma: Trends of poisoning in natural areas of South West Punjab. Journal of Indian academy of Forensic Medicine(2011) Vol. XXXII. (3); 189-193
- Sunanda Naik B, Mohan alva M, Devananda shetty; Profile of acute Poison in g at Moodabidri, Karnataka (South India): Retrospective survey. Journal of India Society of Toxicology,; 2007, Vol Vii(1)
- B D Gupta, P C Veghela: Profile of fatal poisoning in and around Jamnagar, Gujarat, India. Journal of Indian academy of Forensic Medicine, 2005, (Vol .XXVII), pages 145-148
- Gargi J, Tejpal H R, Channa A, Rai G& Chaudhary R . A retrospective autopsy study of poisoning in Northen region of Punjab. Academy of Forensic Medicine& Toxicology2008, Vol . V page 23
- F L Cyriac job ;A retrospective study of poisoning cases in Thrissur district kereak for the year 1995; journal of Indian Society of Toxicology,2009, (Vol V) isuue 001. Page 23-27
- Zine K U, Mohanty A C Pattern of Acute poisoning at Indira Gandhi Medical College & Hospital Nagpur. Journal of Indian academy of Forensic Medicine,1998, (Vol.XX) page 37-39
- Harish D, Sharma B R, Cahvali K H, Anup Shrma . Poisoning mortially in Chandigarah. An overview. Journal of Indian academy of Forensic Medicine,2006, (Vol. XXVIII), page 110-113
- A Behara, S C Mohapatra, AC K Panigrahi ; Clinical and Medicolegal evaluation of poisoning cases at Burla Medical Colelhe and Hspital – A years prospective study; Journal of Indian Academy of Forensic Medicine.2002 (Volume XXIV); 2, page 17-19
- Aggarwal n K, Aggarwal B BL. Trends of poisoning in Delhi Journal of Indian Academy forensic Medicine;1998, (Vol.XX); page 32-36
- Shetty A K, Jirli P S, Bastia B K. Incidence of poisoning deaths in and around BelagaumAKrnataka
 A retrospective study. Journal of Indian Society of Toxicology.2010, Volume VI. (002). 34-36
- M Rohit Zariwala, Saumil Merchant, Tapan Mehta and Ravindra Bhise ; Trends of poisoning in Ahmedabad. Journal of Indian Academy of Forensic Medicine, 2009 (Vol.XXXI), (2) page 125 to 131
- Dhanya S P, Dhanya T H, Bindhu Latha Nair R, Hema C G . A retrospective analysis of apttern pf poisoning in patients admitted to medical college & Hospital, Calicut Medical Journal2009 (Vol. VII)(2)

- Kohli A, Banerjee K K. Fatal unintentional poisoning. A five year review of deaths in a teaching hospital in Delhi. Journal of Indian academy of Forensic Medicine, 2002 ,(Vol. XXIV) (3), page 86-88
- Petrovic B, Kocic B, Nikolic M, Nikic D, BondanovicD

 The influence of marital status on epidemiological characteristic of suicides in the South East part of Serbia. Cent Evr J Public Health,2009 (Vol.17),(1), page 41-46
- Murty O,P, Yeen C K, Jia T A, Wen SH, Queen Y S, Verma S K, Agarwal N K; , A ten year retrospective study on poisoning cases in two major cities of Malaysia and India. Journal of Indian society of toxicology2008,Vol. 004(001). Page 6-11.
- 19. Gupta B D, Haparin J H, Shah V N Current trends of poisoning I Jamnagar , An exp. Of a tertiary care teaching hospital. Journal of Indian Academy of Forensic Medicine,2006, (Vol XXVIII), page 90-92

Call for Papers / Article Submission

Medico-Legal Update invites articles, case reports, newspaper clippings, report medico legal activities to update the knowledge of readers in scientific disciplines such as Forensic Medicine, Forensic Sciences, Environmental Hazards, Toxicology, odontology, Anatomy and law etc.

The following guidelines should be noted:

- The article must be submitted by e-mail only. Hard copy not needed. Send article as attachment in e-mail.
- The article should be accompanied by a declaration from all authors that it is an original work and has not been sent to any other journal for publication.
- As a policy matter, journal encourages articles regarding new concepts and new information.
- Article should have a Title
- Names of authors
- Your Affiliation (designations with college address)
- Abstract
- Key words
- Introduction or back ground
- Material and Methods
- Findings
- Conclusion
- Discussion
- Acknowledgements
- Interest of conflict
- References in Vancouver style.
- Please quote references in text by superscripting
- Word limit 2500-3000 words, MSWORD Format, single file

All articles should be sent to: medicolegalupdate@gmail.com

Our Contact info:

Institute of Medico-Legal Publications Pvt Ltd

Logix Office Tower, Unit No. 1704, Logix City Centre Mall Sector-32, Noida - 201 301 (Uttar Pradesh) Ph. 0120- 429 4015, Email: medicolegalupdate@gmail.com Website: www.medicolegalupdate.org



Medico-Legal Update

Logix Office Tower, Unit No. 1704, Logix City Centre Mall Sector- 32, Noida - 201 301 (Uttar Pradesh) Ph. 0120- 429 4015, Email: medicolegalupdate@gmail.com, Website: www.medicolegalupdate.org

CALL FOR SUBSCRIPTIONS

About The Journal

Print-ISSN:0971-720X, Electronic - ISSN:0974-1283, Frequency: Quarterly (4 issues in a year)

Medico Legal Update is a journal which brings latest knowledge regarding changing medico legal scenario to its readers. The journal caters to specialties of Forensic Medicine, Forensic Science, D. N. A. fingerprinting, Toxicology, Environmental hazards, Sexual Medicine etc. The journal has been assigned international standard serial number (ISSN) 0971-720X. The journal is registered with Registrar of Newspapers for India vide registration numbers 63757/96 under Press and Registration of Books act, 1867. The journal is also covered by EMBASE (Excerpta Medica Database) from 1997 and by INDEX COPERNICUS, POLAND.

Medico-Legal Update is a quarterly peer reviewed journal. The journal has also been assigned E- ISSN 0974-1283 (Electronic version). The first issue of the journal was published in 1996.

| Journal Title | Print Only |
|---------------------|------------|
| Medico-Legal Update | INR 12000 |

NOTE FOR SUBSCRIBERS

- Advance payment required by cheque/demand draft in the name of "Institute of Medico-Legal Publications" payable at New Delhi.
- · Cancellation not allowed except for duplicate payment.
- Claim must be made within six months from issue date.
- A free copy can be forwarded on request.

Bank Details

| Name of account : | Institute of Medico-Legal Publications Pvt Ltd |
|--------------------------------|--|
| Bank: | HDFC Bank |
| Branch | Sector-50, Noida-201 301 |
| Account number: | 09307630000146 |
| Type of Account: | Current Account |
| MICR Code: | 110240113 |
| RTGS/NEFT/IFSC Code: | HDFC0000728 |
| Please quote reference number. | |

Send all payment to : Institute of Medico-Legal Publications Pvt Ltd

Logix Office Tower, Unit No. 1704, Logix City Centre Mall Sector- 32, Noida - 201 301 (Uttar Pradesh) Ph. 0120- 429 4015, Email: medicolegalupdate@gmail.com, Website: www.medicolegalupdate.org

Printed at: Printpack Electrostat G-2, Eros Apartment, 56, Nehru Place, New Delhi-110019 Published at: Institute of Medico-Legal Publications: Logix Office Tower, Unit No. 1704, Logix City Centre Mall, Sector- 32, Noida - 201 301 (Uttar Pradesh), Ph. +91 120 429 4015